

IFF Working Paper Online No 26

The Making and Breaking of Federalism in Iraq

LEILA HACCIUS

December 2018

Citation: Leila Haccius, The Making and Breaking of Federalism in Iraq, IFF Working Paper Online No 26, Fribourg, December 2018

University of Fribourg Institute of Federalism Av. Beauregard 1 CH-1700 Fribourg Phone +41 (0) 26 300 81 25

www.federalism.ch



UNIVERSITÉ DE FRIBOURG FACULTÉ DE DROIT UNIVERSITÄT FREIBURG RECHTSWISSENSCHAFTLICHE FAKULTÄT

Table of Contents

Abstract	2
Introduction	
A) The Making of Federalism in Iraq	
1. Background	
1.1 Historical input	
1.2 Federalism as a tool to solve ethnic conflicts	
2. The Iraqi Constitution	12
2.1 Constitution drafting process	
2.2 Result of the process	
B) The Breaking of Federalism in Iraq	
1. Issues related to the constitutional process	
1.1 Legitimacy issues	
1.2 Lack of time	23
1.3 Intervention of the West	
2. Issues related to the power-sharring arrangements	27
2.1 The unclearness of the constitution and the multi	ple
sunset-clauses	27
2.2 The paradox of federalism	32
Conclusion	
References	

Abstract

The fall of Saddam Hussein and Iraq's transition to democracy was heavily mediatised due to the important intervention of the West, especially that of the United States. However, nearly fifteen years later, and despite its new constitution establishing a federal structure, peace still does not exist. One could therefore easily conclude that the federal solution has failed in Iraq, and argue that federalism might not be a suitable solution for divided societies.

This paper argues that despite its constitution, Iraq has never experienced federalism in essence. It lays emphasis on the process of building a federal state, the main idea being that the success of federalism depends on the transition process, and not on the federal arrangements as such. Thus, this paper seeks to answer to the following question: How did the making of federalism in Iraq affect its breaking?

Introduction

Iraq officially became a federal Sate on the 15th of October 2005, when the new constitution was accepted by its population. After 35 years of violent dictatorship, the hope was that the constitution would enable the creation of a new federal, peaceful and democratic state. At the time of writing, Iraqi society still faces many challenges. Iraq has been the target of many terrorist attacks and has been fighting extremist groups such as ISIS actively since 2014. In 2016, the Kurds attempted to secede from Iraq by holding a referendum. State institutions are weak and Iraq has been ranked as one of the most corrupt countries of the world¹. Internally, the different ethnical groups still haven't managed to find an agreement on the management of natural resources and the future of Kirkuk is still uncertain.

Throughout its modern history, the Iraqi population has suffered many violent episodes related to ethnical identity. After the US invaded Iraq in 2003, state institutions had to be rebuilt and a new government had to be established. Because of conflicting interests within the society, a federal option was thought to be an adapted solution to pacify the situation, bring an end to ethnical conflicts and avoid a future civil war. Yet, nearly thirteen years after the adoption of Iraq's new constitution, the federal solution does not seem to have been entirely successful.

The hypothesis underlining this paper is that the process that accompanied Iraq's federal transition is the principle reasons why Iraq's federalism has failed in surpassing ethnic division and in rebuilding the state after Saddam's Hussein dictatorship.

This study is divided in two main parts. The first seeks to explore the making of federalism in Iraq, and is itself split into two parts.

As the federal solution is directly connected to Iraq's internal division and modern history, the first subsection contains a brief history and lays down some basic theoretical concepts linked to federalism in general and to the Iraqi situation in particular. The second subsection discusses the making of federalism in Iraq and focuses on the process and the result of the process, namely the constitution of 2005, which consecrates Iraq's federal nature.

The second part aims at understanding the breaking of federalism in Iraq. Thus, the drafting process leading up to the adoption of Iraq's new constitution will be analysed in more detail. An attempt will be made to identify some of the major flaws in the making and their consequence on the Iraqi constitution. In a second stage, the weaknesses of the constitution as such will be evaluated - the assumption being that the issues regarding the implementation of the constitution are directly linked to the development process and less directly to the agreed power-sharing structure.

¹ International Transparency, 2016.

A) The Making of Federalism in Iraq

The preamble of the Iraqi constitution refers to the will of creating a "republican, federal, democratic and pluralistic system"². In order to underline the complexity of Iraq's federal transition, this section is divided in two parts. The first exposes the background in which such a process took place (*infra* 1). Important to note that this part will not just resume the historical and social background that led to the creation of a federal state in Iraq; it aims at laying down some basic theoretical concepts related to federalism in general and to Iraq more specifically. The second will then tackle the actual creation of the Iraqi federation (*infra* 2).

1. Background

In order to understand the challenges encountered during the whole process of adoption of a new constitution, it is important to comprehend the social, environmental and historical context in which the constitution was developed. Thus, the following part will, first of all, examine the historical background to the adoption of Iraq's new constitution (*infra* 1.1). Secondly, it will try to explain why a federal structure was chosen for Iraq and what kind of challenges were faced (*infra* 1.2).

1.1 Historical input

The Iraqi population is a melting pot of different cultures and civilisations, which throughout Iraq's modern history has led to many conflicts³. Iraq is 75%-80% Arab and 15%-20% Kurd⁴. The other minorities, including Turkmens and Assyrians, make up to 5% of the remaining population⁵. Islam is the main religion; about 99% of the Iraqis declare themselves to be Muslims, 60%-65% of them being Shia and 32%-37% Sunni⁶. This ethnic configuration has contributed to various conflicts, especially the ones, which occurred during the Baath Regime, when the country was governed by Saddam Hussein⁷.

1.1.1 The Independence from Great Britain and the attempt to create a legitimate central government

Great Britain invaded Iraq in 1914, by 1918 most of the country was under control of the British forces⁸. After the fall of the Ottoman Empire, Iraq became a British Protectorate and consisted of three provinces: Baghdad, Basra and Mosul⁹. The British made an alliance with the Sunnis and promised the Kurds of Iraq they would be allowed to be independent or be granted

² Cst Preamble.

³ Al-Bayan, p. 7 ; NOREE, p. 152.

⁴ Al-Bayan, p. 7.

⁵ Al-Bayan, p. 7.

⁶ Al-Bayan, p. 7.

⁷ Al-Bayan, p. 7.

⁸ TRIPP, pp. 30-32.

⁹ TRIPP, p. 30.

the right to self-determination¹⁰. This promise was never held¹¹. Repression of the Shiite and the Kurds was then used by the Sunnis to maintain political power over them¹².

In 1921, a monarchy was established as a consequence of revolts of the Iraqi population – mainly Shias and Kurds $-^{13}$. However, the new monarch was unpopular with both the Sunni and Shias due to his subordinate position to Great Britain¹⁴, and because he was a Sunni and a non-Iraqi¹⁵. In 1932, Iraq gained its independency from Great Britain¹⁶. The Monarchy was overthrown in 1958 and a Republic was established. Despite an initial attempt to unify ethnosectarian divisions existing in Iraq, the regime ended up cracking down on dissidents and the Kurds didn't obtain the rights they had been negotiating for¹⁷.

The attempts to establish a democratic, legitimate and representative government in Iraq during the monarchy or during the republic never succeeded¹⁸. As the creation of representative institution implied the handing over of some political power, it was never done. Thus the Shia and the Kurds never accepted the legitimacy of the central government¹⁹, and continued to be excluded from important economical or political positions within the Iraqi State²⁰.

1.1.2 The Baathist regime and its impact on the sectarian division of the society

From 1968, Iraq was under the regime of the Baath Party, which brought Saddam Hussein into power in 1979²¹. Although there had always tensions between the different ethnic groups within Iraq, the situation drastically worsened after 1968²².

The Baathist Regime was based on an ideological legitimacy of Arab Nationalism²³. As a result, ethnical groups, which did not belong to the Arab Population were extremely victimized²⁴. The emergence of Arab Nationalism had already started in 1932, after Iraq declared its independence²⁵. The rise of a strong national identity can be understood as a reaction to the British occupation²⁶. Under Saddam Hussein's regime, it slowly became a central element of the political scene²⁷. Members of Arab-groups were privileged, which meant the Shia started gaining

- ¹¹ ÖZDEN, p. 45.
- ¹² YESILTAS, p. 41.
- ¹³ TRIPP, pp. 39-44.
- ¹⁴ Al-Bayan, p. 9 ; TRIPP, p. 47 f. ; YESILTAS, p. 43.
- ¹⁵ YESILTAS, p. 43.
- ¹⁶ TRIPP, p. 72.
- ¹⁷ Al-Bayan, p. 12.
- ¹⁸ TRAUTNER, p. 715 ; YESILTAS, p. 47.
 ¹⁹ VESULTAS, p. 45.
- ¹⁹ YESILTAS, p. 45.
- ²⁰ YESILTAS, p. 45.
- ²¹ Al-Bayan, p. 11.
- ²² ÖZDEN, p. 46.
- ²³ YESILTAS, p. 42.
 ²⁴ YESILTAS, p. 42.
- ²⁵ YESILTAS, p. 42.
 ²⁵ YESILTAS, p. 46.
- ²⁶ YESILTAS, p. 46.
- ²⁷ YESILTAS, p. 46.

¹⁰ ÖZDEN, p. 45.

access to the political institutions, whereas the Kurds and other minorities were still excluded, as they did not belong to any Arab group²⁸. The division of the society had now become linked to cultural belonging.

Between 1970 and 1974, the Iraqi government intensified its "Arabization" policy²⁹. In order to guarantee an Arabic majority in oil-rich regions, the government began moving Arabs to Kirkuk and giving Arabic names to Kurdish streets, neighbourhoods and schools³⁰, proving the fact that the existing conflict in Iraq goes beyond ethnical division and is linked to natural resources such as oil³¹.

In 1979, many Iraqi-Shia supported the Iranian revolution³². As a reaction, the Iraqi government began dividing the Shia population of Iraq and executing some popular Shia figures and some of the Sunnis who had supported the uprising³³. At the end of the Iran-Iraq War in 1988, the extermination of the resistance movement – supporting Iran – consisted in the most brutal reprisal ever seen in Iraq³⁴. Thus, the reaction of the government to every uprising within the Iraqi society was violent and aimed at intensifying the sectarian division of the society even more by willingly developing mistrust, hate and prejudices between the different ethnical groups³⁵. The consequences of such brutal and sectarian practices can still be felt within the Iraqi society³⁶.

It is worth mentioning that Iraqi society has never experienced democracy³⁷, which could be an issue while trying to implement a federal State. Power has never been shared vertically, as it was concentrated in the hands of one person³⁸. It was unevenly distributed within the society—most was given to the Sunni, more specifically according to tribal networks and patronages³⁹. Moreover, the Baathist Regime, which lasted 35 years, was extremely violent and brutal⁴⁰. Saddam Hussein's rule can be qualified as a regime in, which « exclusivity, communal mistrust, patronage and the exemplary use of violence were the main elements, woven into a system of dependence on and conformity with the will of a smaller number of men at the centre in the name of social discipline and national destiny »⁴¹. After such a traumatic experience, it was therefore evident that the rebuilding of trust among the Iraqi population and the creation of a national identity would face many challenges and would take time.

²⁸ YESILTAS, pp. 42 and 46.

²⁹ YESILTAS, p. 50.

³⁰ YESILTAS, p. 50. – Between 1976 and 1986, about 4'500 Kurdish villages were destroyed in oil rich areas.

³¹ ALKADIRI, p. 1320.

³² Al-Bayan, p. 13; TRAUTNER, p. 715.

³³ Al-Bayan, p. 13; TRAUTNER, p. 715 – This perpetuated the stereotype of Shia being traitors.

WIMMER, p. 119 – The gassing Halabja has become a symbol for the genocidial character of the Afal campaign.
 Al-Bayan, p. 13.

³⁶ ANDERSON / STANSFIELD, p. 221 – The authors use the term "interethnic hatred"; ÖZDEN, p. 19.

³⁷ NOREE, p. 188 ; ÖZDEN, p. 46.

³⁸ Özden, p. 46.

³⁹ Al-Bayan, p. 15.

⁴⁰ Al-Rachid / Méténier, p. 27.

⁴¹ TRIPP, p. 187.

1.1.3 The federal debate in Iraq

It was the introduction of a non-fly zone in 1991 and the military invasion of 2003, which enabled the creation of an Iraqi federation⁴². The Kurds were the first to open the federal debate in 1992⁴³. As they had acquired a *de facto* independency after the Gulf War of 1991⁴⁴, they expressed the wish to create an autonomous Kurdish region⁴⁵. In 2002, various meetings were arranged in Washington, Iraq and London with opposition groups of Iraq⁴⁶. These meetings aimed at discussing the future political organization of the country once Saddam Hussein was defeated. The Opposition groups all seemed to have agreed on a federal solution for Iraq⁴⁷.

By the time the US invaded Iraq, no decision had been taken as to whether a territorial or ethnical federalism would be chosen⁴⁸. However, surrounding countries opposed themselves to a federal solution. Turkey felt threatened by the possibility that the Kurds would control Kirkuk and the oil resources, as they feared the Iraqi Kurds would then try to seek a de jure independency⁴⁹. Its foreign minister, Abdullah Gull, declared that Turkey would intervene militarily should the Kurds obtain independency in order to safeguard « Iraq's territorial integrity »⁵⁰. Some minorities in the northern part of Iraq also feared that they would be discriminated against in a Kurdish controlled region, despite the promises made by the Kurdish government⁵¹.

The overlap of ethnical division, unequal access to oil, and the coexistence of several legal systems throughout the country⁵² implied a high potential of conflict and complexifies the situation⁵³. All these features have had an impact on the development of the federal State and still are the cause of many tensions in Iraq⁵⁴.

1.2 Federalism as a tool to solve ethnic conflicts

Emphasis will be laid on the concept of federalism as a political strategy, which could bring peace to a divided society. The main idea is that although federalism can help reconstruct a « destroyed » Nation, it is not a solution in itself but rather a strategy, which can help bringing peace to ethnical division within a State and must be adapted to the context of the Iraqi State.

⁴² DANILOVICH / OWTRAM, Introduction, p. 3.

⁴³ Özden, p. 49.

⁴⁴ ANDERSON / STANSFIELD, p. 221 ; DANILOVICH, p. 49 ; NOREE, p. 98 ; TRAUTNER, p. 721.

⁴⁵ Özden, p. 49; Noree, p. 155.

⁴⁶ Özden, p. 49.

⁴⁷ BRANCATI, p. 11 – Opposition groups included Sunni, Shia and Kurds.

⁴⁸ ÖZDEN, p. 50.

⁴⁹ BRANCATI, p. 12.

⁵⁰ DANILOVICH / OWTRAM, Introduction, p. 3.

⁵¹ BRANCATI, p. 12.

⁵² SMITH, p. 135 f.

⁵³ ANDERSON, p. 166 ; DANILOVICH / OWTRAM, Introduction, p. 8 ; SMITH, pp. 135 and 138.

⁵⁴ Alkadiri, p. 1317; Jawad, pp. 12-14.

All in all, this chapter pursues the aim of laying down theoretical notions, which are necessary to understand the making and breaking of federalism in Iraq.

To this extent, this section is divided as follows: the first part (*infra* 1.2.1) aims at defining the notion of federalism and underlining the nexus between ethnical conflicts and power-sharing arrangements. The second part (*infra* 1.2.2) focuses on the question of the drawing of borders within a federal part and the final part (*infra* 1.2.3) examines the question of decentralization.

1.2.1 The federal solution for Iraq

There is no universal definition of federalism but a wide range of different federations around the world⁵⁵. Despite the lack of a common understanding of the concept⁵⁶, scholars have identified various characteristics of a federal State based on a case-to-case review. LIJPHART distinguishes between primary and secondary characteristics, the latter having the purpose of guaranteeing the effectiveness of the former⁵⁷. The primary features of a federal state are a vertical division of powers between the federal unit and subnational units (1), and the allowance of a certain amount of power, or autonomy to these units – decentralization – (2)⁵⁸. To ensure the effectiveness of these two main features, secondary characteristics have been identified; a bicameral legislative with a strong upper chamber representing the subnational units, a written constitution not easily amended and the existence of an independent judiciary power able to protect the constitution⁵⁹.

In essence, a federal State is a State in which at least two level of government coexist and have a certain level of autonomy in some areas. Thus, the division of power is not only horizontal but also vertical and the competences of each unit are usually listed in the Constitution⁶⁰. To insure power-sharing, it is important that the subnational units be represented at the federal level and be granted the capacity to participate in some of the spheres⁶¹. Federalism has been praised as a governing strategy well suited for complex societies, which are constituted of various groups (religious, linguistic, ethnical)⁶². Indeed, it permits unity and diversity to coexist⁶³. However, it is important to note that federalism goes above a simple division of powers between entities as it implies a shared power⁶⁴, meaning that the different entities are entitled to communicate and coordinate themselves. Hence, this willingness to coexist and to respect

⁵⁵ KOLLER AND AL., p. 15.

⁵⁶ LAW, p. 90.

⁵⁷ LIJPHART, p. 177 – Refers to DUCHACEK, pp. 188-275: « yardsticks of federalism ».

⁵⁸ Lijphart, p. 176 f.

⁵⁹ Lijphart, p. 176 f.

⁶⁰ KOLLER AND AL., p. 15 f.

⁶¹ ÖZDEN, p. 23.

⁶² KOLLER AND AL., p. 15 f.

⁶³ KOLLER AND AL., p. 15 f.

⁶⁴ ANDERSON, p. 160 ; ELAZAR (1987), p. 12.

diversity and plural identities implies that federalism is more than a political concept and could be understood as an ideology⁶⁵.

Many scholars see federalism as a solution or remedy to bring stability in divided societies⁶⁶. As it has been explicated by ELAZAR, in cases where a country is confronted with ethnical cleavages, federalism may constitute the only way to achieve « local and world peace »⁶⁷. Indeed, a federal option enables the coexistence of dual identities⁶⁸. It also allows subnational units to organize a part of their existence in accordance with their culture and tradition⁶⁹. Especially in nascent democracies, a vertical division of powers can be seen as a supplementary protection of the population's rights against abusive use of power⁷⁰.

HOROWITZ notes, that « skilful division of authority between regions or states and a centre has the potential of resolving conflicts »⁷¹. These authors believe that federalism can be an efficient solution to avoid secession or inner violence. It is also sometimes argued that federalism will only be successful if linked with an effective democratic system⁷².

Nevertheless, other scholars do not believe that federalism is an effective instrument to resolve existing conflicts in societies⁷³. The main argument is that instead of consolidating a State, federalism facilities secession⁷⁴. Many of these authors take example of the ex USSR⁷⁵.

As it has been pointed out, in States, which have been victims of a civil war related to ethnical divisions, the principal aim is not the political transformation of the ethnical groups but stability within the State⁷⁶. In such situations, federalism is more than a political arrangement of power and consists of a mechanism to solve conflicts and pacify a divided society.

As federalism in Iraq has been understood as a strategy to avoid a future civil war or the division of the country, it seems to fulfil the characteristics of a « holding-together » federalism⁷⁷. However, although there was a strong pressure from the international scene to impose federalism in Iraq⁷⁸, the Kurds seemed to have voluntarily committed to federalism⁷⁹. Thus, it can be argued that the Iraqi Federation falls into the category of a « coming-together » federation⁸⁰.

⁶⁵ KOLLER AND AL., p. 16.

⁶⁶ BERMEO, p. 108 ; DANILOVICH/OWTRAM, Tool, p. 13.; GHAI, pp. 483-483 ; MCGARRY / O'LEARY (1993), p. 33.

⁶⁷ ELAZAR (1984), p. 3 ff.

⁶⁸ DANILOVICH / OWTRAM, Tool, p. 15 ; HABISSO ,p. 5.

⁶⁹ KEIL / ANDERSON, p. 1.

⁷⁰ SMITH, p. 130.

⁷¹ HOROWITZ, p. 602.

⁷² BERMEO, p. 97; KOLLER AND AL., p. 16; MCCULLOCH, p. 4.

⁷³ BRUBAKER, p. 53 ; GORENBURG, pp. 25 and 265 ; ROEDER, p. 199 ; SNYDER, p. 210.

⁷⁴ ANDERSON, p. 162.

⁷⁵ ANDERSON, p. 162.

⁷⁶ ÖZDEN, p. 38.

⁷⁷ DANILOVICH, p. 50 – see STEPAN, pp. 19-34.

⁷⁸ DANILOVICH, p. 50.

⁷⁹ ANDERSON, p. 168.

⁸⁰ ANDERSON, p. 167 ; DANILOVICH / OWTRAM, Tool, p. 21.

Iraq would therefore consist in a holding-together federation regarding the Shiite-Sunni situation but a coming together federation as to the Kurd-Arabic division⁸¹.

Concerning Iraq, most of the scholars admit that a federal system is the only solution to stabilize the country⁸²: « it is very clear that, *in the short term*, federalism is necessary for the maintenance of the territorial integrity of Iraq »⁸³. (Emphasis added)

However, there are many different types of federations. What matters more than the simple decision to adopt federalism, is the type of federalism, to be adopted⁸⁴.

1.2.2 The drawing of borders along or across ethnical groups

Two options exist in the drawing up of borders in a newborn federal State. One can follow the ethnical pattern within a State and build ethnical subnational units or one can mix the different ethnical groups within the subnational units. The latter is known as territorial federalism and the former as ethno-federalism⁸⁵. In the case of Iraq, some people wished to follow 18 pre-existing administrative units of Iraq⁸⁶, or at least create a territorial federalism⁸⁷. Others suggested the division of Iraq in four regions three ethnical and a mixed region in Baghdad⁸⁸.

The decision about the drawing of borders refers to two different views of federalism, and opens a debate between an integrated approach, accommodation, or a consociationalist approach⁸⁹. Integrationists favour a type of federalism, which will abstain from ethnical division, thus going across ethnical belongings⁹⁰. On the other hand, consocionalists divide power within a state based on the existence of these different ethnical belongings⁹¹.

The drawing of internal borders has a strong impact on the political representation and power within a country. In Iraq, the division of the state based on religious groups between Arabic and Kurds would have privileged the Sunnis because they were and still are outnumbered by Shiites⁹². The Kurds have always been in favour of an ethnical-federation, as it would allow them to maintain their gained independency and guarantee them a strong representation at the federal level⁹³. As for the Shiites, being a majority within the Iraqi population, they would be most advantaged by a strong centralized system, or by the creation of trans-ethnic re-

⁸¹ DANILOVICH, p. 50 – The author mentions the hybrid nature of Iraq's federalism.

⁸² BRANCATI, p. 7.

⁸³ ANDERSON, p. 169 ; WIMMER, p. 121.

⁸⁴ BRANCATI, p. 7.

⁸⁵ ÖZDEN, p. 25.

⁸⁶ BRANCATI, p. 17.

⁸⁷ WIMMER, p. 124.

⁸⁸ NOREE, p. 161.

⁸⁹ McGarry / O'LEARY (2007), pp. 670 ff.

⁹⁰ McGARRY / O'LEARY (2007), pp. 670 and 675 – It may seem somewhat unrealistic to expect such divided societies as Iraq to ignore their ethnical belonging.

⁹¹ McGarry / O'Leary (2007), p. 671.

⁹² BRANCATI, p. 15 ff.

⁹³ BRANCATI, p. 15 ff.

gions⁹⁴. In addition, the existence of an ethno-federal Iraq would mean that neither the Sunnis – the historically privileged group – neither the Shiites – the majority of the population – would control the oil⁹⁵.

The federal literature identifies two main risks related to an ethnical-federation, the first being the increase of ethnical tensions and the second being the risk of secession⁹⁶. As summarised in 2004: « many scholars fear that drawing Iraq's regional borders along ethnical or religious lines will increase the likehood of ethnic conflict and secessionism by strengthening ethnic and religious identities in the country »⁹⁷. Indeed, with regards to Iraq's demographic situation, it would have been impossible to create homogeneous regions. Even though the northern part of the country is mostly populated by Kurds, other minorities also cohabit with them, which has the potential of creating tensions between the new majority and new minorities. This matter is referred to as « the problem of minorities within minorities »⁹⁸.

Another big issue relates to the potential of secession. This question is also known as the paradox of federalism⁹⁹. The fear is that when a Federation is divided along ethnical borders and when such regions are granted a high level of autonomy (*infra* p. 11), there is a high probability that they will secede from the State. The paradox being that although federalism might at first ease tension between ethnical groups within a State and prevent secession, it also smoothens the path to secession¹⁰⁰. Hence, it was often said that the real reason why the Kurds were interested in federalism was to later gain their full independency¹⁰¹.

1.2.3 Decentralization of power – a strong central state or subnational units with much autonomy

One of the characteristics of a federal State is the possession of a certain degree of autonomy by the federal State and the subnational units (*supra*, p. 7). To this extent, some of the State competences must be handed over to the regions. Decentralization is one of the means, which enables such a transfer of powers¹⁰².

One of the particularities of Iraq lies in the fact that the Kurds already had a *de facto* independency when negotiating the creation of a federal State (*supra*, p. 6). Some authors have argued, based on the exemple of Nigeria that the prexistence of a *de facto* federation implies the risk of rushing the decentralization process and granting too much autonomy too quickly

⁹⁴ BRANCATI, p. 15 ff.

⁹⁵ ANDERSON, p. 166.

⁹⁶ BRANCATI, p. 15 ff. ; KEIL / ANDERSON, p. 9.

⁹⁷ BRANCATI, p. 16.

⁹⁸ KEIL / ANDERSON, p. 6.

⁹⁹ DANILOVICH / OWTRAM, Introduction, p. 3.

¹⁰⁰ ANDERSON, p. 162; TIERNEY, p. 283.

¹⁰¹ ANDERSON, p. 166; BRANCATI, p. 12.

¹⁰² KEIL / ANDERSON, p. 2.

to the subnational units¹⁰³. The existence of a strong central state has been said to be the best solution for Iraq, in order to prevent secessionist tendencies¹⁰⁴.

However, whether it be for effective reasons, such as the size of the country¹⁰⁵ or because of the risk of secession, others believe in a strong decentralization. It has been argued that the Kurdish region should be allocated an autonomous statute within the Iraqi federation similar to the one granted to the Aland Islands in Finland¹⁰⁶. Thus, the best solution for Iraq would be to establish an asymmetrical federalism, granting a very high level of independency to the Kurds but not to other ethnical minorities or groups¹⁰⁷.

Concerning the risk of increasing the sectarian division and of secession, it seems that the real danger is not necessarily linked to the ethnical division of a country but more to the way in which political parties are organized. The real threat would exist when strong identity based parties dominate the political scene¹⁰⁸. The sharing of power should therefore ensure the inclusion of all the principle groups or segment of the population¹⁰⁹.

All in all, one can see that although federalism has often been praised as a solution to rebuild a State, which has faced ethnical-related violence or to appease secessionist aspirations, there is no unanimity as whether it functions on a long term basis, or on how to implement it. The latter will of course depend on the context. However it is important to note that despite the existence of a broad consensus between the experts, there seems to be no other suitable option. As Lawrence ANDERSON puts it: « There is a strong argument to be made that federalism is a bad choice for Iraq, but it seems pretty clear that it is the best among the bad choices available »¹¹⁰.

2. The Iraqi Constitution

« The origins and formation of the federations provides the key to a contextual understanding of contemporary stresses and strains »¹¹¹.

In order to understand federalism in Iraq, it is important to first discuss the process, which led to the making of the Constitution. This interim period begins with the creation of the Coalition

¹⁰³ SMITH, р. 137.

¹⁰⁴ SMITH, p. 141.

¹⁰⁵ NOREE, p. 153.

¹⁰⁶ ANDERSON / STANSFIELD, p. 230.

¹⁰⁷ ANDERSON / STANSFIELD, p. 230.

¹⁰⁸ BRANCATI, p. 16.

¹⁰⁹ MCCULLOCH, p. 6 – This understanding of Power-Sharing is known as consociationalism. It implies the existence of a government where all major groups are represented in a proportional way with an overrepresentation of minorities. Minorities are also granted a veto right and a certain autonomy (MCCULLOCH, pp. 12-16). The concept is related to the work of A. LIJPHART, J., MCGARRY B. and O'LEARY. However, some scholars do not believe in consociationalism in divided societies, mainly because conciliatory feelings do not exist in divided places and favour a centripetal model (MCCULLOCH, p. 20; see HOROWITZ and REILLY).

¹¹⁰ ANDERSON, p. 170.

¹¹¹ BURGESS, p. 279.

Provisional Authority (CPA) and the adoption of the Transitional Administrative Law (TAL) in 2003 and ends in 2005, when the Iraqi population accepted the constitution. The first part of this paper will therefore focus on the process of creating a new constitution (*infra* 2.1). Subsequently, it will be question of the Constitution in itself as the result of the creation process (infra 2.2).

2.1 Constitution drafting process

As we have seen in the previous section, many proposals existed and exist about the way to organize Iraq's federation. However, less attention has been paid to the process preceding the adoption of the new constitution¹¹². This process should not be underestimated¹¹³, as it has the potential to transform a society provided that it is properly organized and is given sufficient attention and resources¹¹⁴.

In order to obtain a full understanding of the constitution making process in Iraq, this first subsection shortly summarizes the most important events and their chronological order (infra 2.1.1). Special attention will then be given to the TAL (infra 2.1.2) and to the final Draft (infra 2.1.3).

2.1.1 Chronology of events

The constitutional process is understood as the period between the fall of Saddam Hussein at the end of April 2003¹¹⁵ and the adoption of the Constitution through a popular referendum on the 15th of October 2005. Shortly after the US and its allies had overthrown Saddam Hussein, they appointed a Coalition Provisional Authority (CPA)¹¹⁶. Paul Bremer¹¹⁷ was placed at the head of the CPA and was given full powers by President Bush¹¹⁸. On the 13th of July 2003¹¹⁹, he appointed the members of the Iraqi Governing Council (ICG) based on ethno-sectarian lines¹²⁰. Throughout all of Iraq's modern history, this seems to be the first time that the ethnical identities were prioritized over national identity at an institutional level¹²¹. It has been argued that by doing so, Paul Bremer contributed to the sectarian division within the Iraqi society¹²². Thus, the CPA seemed to have a very simplistic vision of the Iraqi society, reducing the conflicts within the State to ethnical division¹²³. In 2003, it attempted to start drafting the future Constitu-

- ¹²¹ Al-Bayan, p. 16 ; JAWAD, p. 8.
- ¹²² McGarry / O'Leary (2007), p. 672 ; Özden, p. 98 ; Yildiz, p. 122.
- ¹²³ Al-Bayan, p. 16 ; JAWAD, p. 5.

¹¹² BRAHIMI, p. I ; USIP, p. 2.

¹¹³ USIP, p. 2.

¹¹⁴ USIP, p. 2.

¹¹⁵ KAIKOBAD, p. 253.

¹¹⁶ KAIKOBAD, p. 253.

¹¹⁷ PFIFFNER, p. 76 f.: Paul Bremer was the US representative in Iraq. President Bush decided on a last minute basis to put him in charge of Iraq, despite the fact that he had never been in Iraq before and never worked on the field. 118 ARATO, p. 15 ; TRIPP, p. 282.

¹¹⁹ KAIKOBAD, p. 254. ¹²⁰ Al-Bayan, p. 16.

tion of Iraq¹²⁴. However, due to the eager demands from the Shia community, the CPA set up a timetable in the Transitional Administrative Law (TAL), which scheduled constituent elections¹²⁵.

The mandate to organize the elections was given to the Interim National Council¹²⁶. This Council had replaced the ICG on the 9th of June 2004¹²⁷. The newly formed Interim Government also followed ethnical division. Ayad Allawi¹²⁸ was appointed at its head. He appointed two Vice Presidents – Kurd and Shia –, and the role of head of state was given to a Sunni¹²⁹. Because the context of the negotiations was very tensed and violent¹³⁰, Allawi tried to reduce the violence and mobilized Kurds and Shia troops on the ground¹³¹. However, this resulted in the Sunnis feeling persecuted, which increased tensions. They finally withdrew the Sunni Iraqi Islamic Party from the Interim Government and boycotted the elections of January 2005¹³². Despite the Sunni-boycott, the National Assembly was elected on the 31 of January 2005 and given the mandate to write the new Constitution¹³³. The International Community approved each one of these steps¹³⁴.

2.1.2 The Transitional Administrative Law

The CPA began drafting a fundamental law in January 2004, which was adopted on the 8th of March 2004¹³⁵. It was done in a very secretive environment¹³⁶. The TAL aimed at regulating the situation in Iraq before the new government entered into force and at establishing a timetable for the constitutional process¹³⁷. This law stated that Iraq was a republican, federal, democratic and pluralistic State and set the premise that Iraq's federalism would be based on a territorial division of the country and not ethnical¹³⁸.

Worth noting is that the drawing up of this « interim constitution » forced the different groups present in Iraq to negotiate¹³⁹. The Kurds insisted on the creation of a federal State and the Shia expressed their will to base Iraqi law on the Sharia. Interestingly, the Sunnis were brought to unify their position, which had never happened before, as there had never been a Sunni

¹²⁴ USIP, p. 2.

¹²⁵ JAWAD, p. 10 – Quotes Fatwa of Ayatollah Al-Sistani in June 2003 « Those forces (coalition or CPA) had no authority to write a constitution for Iraq »; USIP, p. 2.

¹²⁶ TRIPP, p. 286.

¹²⁷ Al-Bayan, p. 16 ; TRIPP, p. 277.

¹²⁸ Ayad Allawi (Shia) was designed prime minister of the IGC.

¹²⁹ Al-Bayan, p. 16 ; TRIPP, p. 293.

¹³⁰ TRIPP, p. 286.

¹³¹ Al-Bayan, p. 16.

¹³² Al-Bayan, p. 17 ; TRIPP, p. 294 f.

¹³³ USIP, p. 3.

¹³⁴ KAIKOBAD, p. 252 ff.; Resolution 1500, Resolution 1511, Resolution 1546.

¹³⁵ TRIPP, p. 286 ; USIP, p. 2.

¹³⁶ PAPAGIANNI, p. 750.

¹³⁷ USIP, p. 2.

¹³⁸ TRIPP, p. 286.

¹³⁹ TRIPP, p. 286.

community as such in Iraq¹⁴⁰. However, it seems that each one of the groups mainly focused on their own interests, which parasited the process¹⁴¹.

Some have identified the TAL as being an interim Constitution¹⁴² because of the fact that it contains a set of fundamental principles and human rights guarantees¹⁴³. The TAL explicitly referred to the importance of the constitutional drafting process: « The TAL unequivocally signalled that a constitution on its own would not be sufficient. Also necessary would be a participatory, transparent and well-ordered drafting process: a process that would display the virtues of democracy that the constitutional text itself was expected to embody »¹⁴⁴.

Thus, for a constitutional process to be successful, it must be supported by a broad national agreement¹⁴⁵. Two elements have been identified as being crucial to the existence of a broad national agreement, namely: the existence of a framework, which details the future steps that will be taken¹⁴⁶ and a list of fundamental principles aiming at guiding the Nation throughout the drafting phase¹⁴⁷. Regarding the content of the law, it is clear that it does not fulfil the two elements identified as necessary for the success of a constitutional process.

In the case if Iraq, both element were contained it the same document¹⁴⁸. As a mater of facts, the TAL contained no precise details about the constitutional process¹⁴⁹, and despite listing a set of fundamental principle, it does not provide control mechanism to check whether these principles have been respected by the Draft. Indeed, although art. 44 TAL institutes a Federal Supreme Court for Iraq, it does not grant it the competence to control whether the constitutional draft respects the fundamental principles set in the TAL¹⁵⁰.

2.1.3 The final draft

The Elections of the National Assembly, in January 2005, were the first free elections since the fall of Saddam Hussein¹⁵¹. The United Iraqi Alliance – which was constituted of the Shia al-Da'wa party and the SCIRI parties won the majority of votes. They were followed by the Democratic Patriotic Alliance of Kurdistan – which reunited the PUK and the KDP. As the Sunni called for a boycott of the elections during the Allawi government (*infra*, p. 20), they were clearly underrepresented at the National Assembly¹⁵². As a result, the drafting process mainly focused

- ¹⁴⁶ GINSBURG / ELKINS / BLOUNT, p. 204.
- ¹⁴⁷ USIP, p. 3.
- ¹⁴⁸ PAPAGIANNI, p. 749.
- ¹⁴⁹ MORROW, p. 4; USIP, p. 4.
- ¹⁵⁰ MORROW, p. 6.
- ¹⁵¹ ÖZDEN, p. 100.
- ¹⁵² Al-Bayan, p. 17 ; ARUTO, p. 212.

¹⁴⁰ TRIPP, p. 286.

¹⁴¹ JAWAD, p. 11.

¹⁴² Arato, p. 63 ; Tripp, p. 286.

¹⁴³ USIP, p. 4.

¹⁴⁴ MORROW, p. 4.

¹⁴⁵ USIP, p. 3.

on the interests of the Kurds and Shia¹⁵³. This led to big divisions within the Sunni community and the increase of violence in Iraqi society¹⁵⁴.

The main issue at stake during the writing of the constitution was the relationship between the central government and the federal entities¹⁵⁵. The Kurds wanted the sub-national units to be granted powers, which went above the powers of the central government. The Sunni, on the other hand, were negotiating for an assymetric solution; a strong central State, which would only grant a large amount of autonomy to the Kurdish part of Iraq¹⁵⁶.

Other issues were related to the identity of the Iraqi State: the role of Islam, the categorisation of Kirkuk as a mixed province or as a part of the Kurdish federal entity, the sharing of revenues throughout the country and application of the de-Baathification politic¹⁵⁷.

Starting from the 8th of August 2005, the negotiations meetings were held exclusively between Shia and Kurds party leaders. Despite demanding the right to attend, Sunnis were very rarely part of these informal meetings¹⁵⁸. « Indeed, the Iraqi constitutional process was remarkable in a way in which members of the Assembly, though legally charged with responsibility for writing the draft, were not involved »¹⁵⁹.

However, the Sunnis were not the only ones who were *de facto* excluded of the drafting. As a matter of facts, despite the fact that other minority groups had been included in the Constitutional Committee, the provision which was supposed to recognize their identity in the future constitution was removed, without even consulting the minority groups¹⁶⁰.

Although the National Assembly was elected in January 2005, the Special Committee, in charge of the writing, was only formed in the middle of June. All in all the final draft had to be written in two months in order to respect the delay imposed by the TAL¹⁶¹. Although, the referendum was set for October the 15th, important changes continued to be made to the final draft, this until the 12th of October 2005¹⁶². The strict delay implied that there was also very little time to consult the Iraqi population on the constitution draft¹⁶³. Most Iraqi had never even seen the final draft, when they were asked to vote on it because no version was made public¹⁶⁴. On top

 161 JAWAD, p. 9 ; MORROW, p. 9 – Deadline for the final draft was set for the 15^{th} of August 2005.

¹⁵³ Al-Bayan, p. 17.

¹⁵⁴ Al-Bayan, p. 17 ; TRIPP, p. 297 f.

¹⁵⁵ JAWAD, p. 12.

¹⁵⁶ JAWAD, p. 12.

¹⁵⁷ JAWAD, p. 12 f.

¹⁵⁸ MORROW, p. 9.

¹⁵⁹ MORROW, p. 15.

¹⁶⁰ MORROW, p. 17 – Other minorities include: Turkmens, Chaldeans, Assyrians, Syriacs, Aremenians, Shabak, Yazidis and the Mandean Sabeans.

¹⁶² Arato, p. 241.

¹⁶³ GHAI / COTTREL, p. 2 ; JAWAD, p. 11 ; MORROW, p. 19.

¹⁶⁴ JAWAD, p. 11.

of that, many issues have not been covered during the negotiations, namely the exploitation of oil and gas, the broad federal system or the fragility of the centre¹⁶⁵.

2.2 Result of the process

Despite the many objections, the drafting process resulted in the adoption of a new Constitution for Iraq and in its transition to a federal State. Art. 1 of the Iraqi constitution declares Iraq is a « single, federal, independent and fully sovereign state in which the system of government is republican, representative, parliamentary, and democratic, and this Constitution is a guarantor of the unity of Iraq ».

The Constitution provides for a horizontal division of powers¹⁶⁶ and for the existence of Checks and Balances¹⁶⁷ (*infra* 2.2.1). It also guarantees a vertical division of power between a decentralized capital, regions, governorates and local administrations¹⁶⁸ (*infra* 2.2.2).

2.2.1 The vertical division of powers

Kurdistan is the only region, which is explicitly recognized by the Iraqi Constitution¹⁶⁹. Iraq consists of two parts, the federal Kurdistan region and « the main Iraq »¹⁷⁰ reuniting fifteen administrative units, known as governorates¹⁷¹. However, the constitution foresees the option for provinces to decide through a referendum whether they want to become an independent province or not¹⁷², with the exception of the capital¹⁷³. The federalization process of provinces is detailed in a « Federalism Law », enacted by the Parliament in 2006¹⁷⁴.

Provinces are understood to be administrative units, federalism expressing itself in the form of a decentralized administration¹⁷⁵. It is up to the provinces to decide whether they wish to constitute a region or not. They are free to choose to create regions based on their common ethnical identity if they wish. Hence, although the creation of a new region is not based on an ethnical division of the society, the provinces may converge along ethnical borders¹⁷⁶. The regions must enact their own constitution and cannot contradict the federal constitution¹⁷⁷.

- ¹⁷² ÖZDEN, p. 134.
- ¹⁷³ DANILOVICH, p. 50.
- ¹⁷⁴ DANILOVICH, p. 50 f.
- ¹⁷⁵ ÖZDEN, p. 136.
- ¹⁷⁶ ÖZDEN, p. 136.

¹⁶⁵ GHAI / COTTREL, p. 1 ; JAWAD, p. 11.

¹⁶⁶ Art. 47 Cst.

¹⁶⁷ ÖZDEN, p. 133.

¹⁶⁸ Art. 116 Cst ; ÖZDEN, p. 131.

¹⁶⁹ Art. 117 Cst ; ÖZDEN, p. 134.

¹⁷⁰ DANILOVICH, p. 50.

¹⁷¹ DANILOVICH, p. 50. ¹⁷² ÖZDEN p. 134

¹⁷⁷ Art. 120 ; ÖZDEN, p. 134.

Thus, they are granted legislative, executive and judiciary powers within their own entity and a right to participate at the federal unit¹⁷⁸.

Some of the competences are exclusively attributed to the federal level and others are shared between the different units¹⁷⁹. Interestingly, in case of disagreement between a region and the federal State in a matter for which the federal state is not exclusively competent, the regional power has the right to amend the application of the national legislation within that region¹⁸⁰. This highlights the strong decentralization of Iraq's federalism, especially if we take into account the fact that not many competences are exclusively attributed to the central government¹⁸¹.

As for the constitution, it can be amended, but only if a majority of the population agrees to do so through a referendum, and if 2/3 of the Parliament support the changes. The ratification by the President is necessary for amendments concerning other matters than Fundamental Principles or Rights and Liberties (Section 1 and 2). The constitution also forsees a special protection of the regions, as their power can only be diminished with approval of the regional parliament and support of a majority of the regional population¹⁸².

Hence, it seems that the primary characteristics of a federal state are given, namely the existence of a two-level government and the existence of a decentralization of powers (*supra*, p. 7). In addition, these features are guaranteed in the constitution, which is not easily amended¹⁸³.

2.2.2 The horizontal division of powers

Iraq defines itself as a parliamentary system. This implies that the executive branch of power is accountable to the legislative and the powers of the executive a shared in a « cabinet », thus not exercised by a single person¹⁸⁴. The Council of Representatives elects the presidency council¹⁸⁵.

Hence, the federal executive is composed of a President and a two vice-president, each representing one of the major ethnical groups in Iraq. However since 2010, the executive power as such has been solely assumed by one individual. This means the President can approve bills of the Parliament without approval of his council¹⁸⁶.

¹⁷⁸ Özden, p. 134.

¹⁷⁹ Art. 114 Cst ; ROMANO, p. 194.

¹⁸⁰ Art. 115 and 120 II Cst ; ÖZDEN, p. 136.

¹⁸¹ Romano, p. 195.

¹⁸² BROWN, Commentary to Art. 122 ; SAMARAWEERA, p. 2 f.

¹⁸³ Art. 126 Cst ; BROWN, Commentary to Art. 122; JAWAD, p. 19 f.

¹⁸⁴ Ghai / Cottrel, p. 13 f.

¹⁸⁵ Art. 70 Cst ; Danilovich, p. 52.

¹⁸⁶ DANILOVICH, p. 53.

The federal Legislative is constituted of two Chambers; the Council of Representative – lower Chamber – and the federal Council – upper Chamber $-^{187}$. The former aims to represent the entire Iraqi population at a ration of one seat per 100'000 Iraqi persons¹⁸⁸ and the latter is intended represent the different regions in Iraq¹⁸⁹.

The Iraqi Constitution allocates strong powers to the Supreme Court. Indeed, in addition to the typical competences of a constitutional Court, it has the power to review a federal law adopted by the Parliament, which could seem unusual for a parliamentary system, usually characterized by the supremacy of the Legislative power¹⁹⁰. However, judicial review of the Executive and Legistalive power is a common feature in federations¹⁹¹. Federalism being understood as a constitutional arrangement, which divides power between different entities, the respect of the constitution is vital¹⁹². Thus, the Federal Court in Germany –also known as a parliamentary system – has the power to review laws, which are inconsistent with the $Grundgesetz^{193}$.

It can be concluded that the Iragi constitution contains the most important features of a federal State, as identified at the beginning of this paper (supra, p. 8). Not only does the constitution guarantee a division of powers between the central state and the regions, but it also guarantees a high amount of decentralization. As for the secondary characteristics, it can be noted that the constitution provides for a bicameral Parliament, the Executive reflects a consocionalist representation and the Federal Supreme Court of Justice is competent to insure the respect of the constitution. Moreover, the constitution is not easily amendable. Therefore, Iraq possesses a formally federal constitution¹⁹⁴. The following part will therefore seek to understand how these federal guarantees have been implemented in practice and if it can be concluded that Iraq is not only formally federal but also effectively.

B) The Breaking of Federalism in Iraq

After having reviewed the principle steps in the creation of the Iraqi Federation, this second part aims at questioning its flaws. The term « breaking » implies that federalism in Iraq once existed and « stopped » functioning. Thus, this section seeks to understand why and how federalism has failed in Iraq. The answer will be discussed from two different angles. First, the process of federalism, described in section A will be analysed (*infra* 1). The hypothesis being that the process in which a constitution is drafted will incontestably affect its success¹⁹⁵. Subsequently, the failure of Iraq's federalism will be analysed in relation to the power-sharing

¹⁸⁷ DANILOVICH, p. 52; GHAI / COTTREL, p. 15.

¹⁸⁸ Art. 49 Cst.

¹⁸⁹ DANILOVICH, p. 52.

¹⁹⁰ DANILOVICH, p. 53. 191

ARONI / KINCAID, p. 3.

¹⁹² ARONI / KINCAID, p. 4; judicial review can be described as weak, when it can be overriden by the Legislative power, such a characterisitc often appears in Brittish Commonwealth countries, see ARONI / KINCAID, pp. 9-10. ¹⁹³ BENZ, p. 204

¹⁹⁴ Lijphart, p. 177. ¹⁹⁵ Brahimi, p. 1.

arrangements chosen (*infra* 2). Hence, the second part will focus more on the result of the negotiations in relation to diverse federal theories.

1. Issues related to the constitutional process

As we have seen, in order for a constitutional process to be successful, major importance should be laid on the national agreement, implying the existence of an interim constitution, which details the process and guarantees a set of fundamental principles (*supra*, p. 14). However, these are not the only pre-requisites necessary to a successful transition to a federal State. Ideally, the process should reflect the values it aims to establish. Thus, various matters have been identified throughout this research, which affected the constitution process. These are; legitimacy issues (*infra* 1.1), lack of time (*infra* 1.2) and the intervention of the West (*infra* 1.3).

1.1 Legitimacy issues

Many events had an influence on the legitimacy of the constitution of 2005. A special attention will be given to the lack of consultation and information of the Iraqi population throughout the process (*infra* 1.1.1) and to the Sunni boycott of the elections of the national assembly in 2005 (*infra* 1.1.2).

1.1.1 No consultation or information of the population

Inclusion of the population in the constitutional process is a key element to insure a legitimate process and a legitimate result. This is extremely important, not only on behalf of the fundamental nature of a constitution in itself, because it has the potential of healing a vulnerable society¹⁹⁶. Empowerment of local actors is seen as the only way to rebuild trust in an ethnical divided society and is indispensable to the success of a constitutional transition. It can therefore not be neglected¹⁹⁷. For a national dialogue to emerge, the population has to be given the tools they need to enable them to participate¹⁹⁸. Thus the ability to be part of a process implies an educational process to enable a certain understanding of the situation (1) and the existence of mechanisms that would make an effective participation possible (2).

Inclusion of the population itself in the drafting process would have given vulnerable groups of the population a sense of ownership and recognition within the new constitution¹⁹⁹. Moreover, inclusion could have overcome the fact that many Iraqis felt the TAL and the composition of

¹⁹⁶ GINSBURG / ELKINS / BLOUNT, p. 206.

¹⁹⁷ WEBER, p. V ; USIP, p. 7.

¹⁹⁸ USIP, p. 8 f.

¹⁹⁹ USIP, pp. 7 and 10.

the Constitutional Committee had been imposed by the US and a small elite without reference to the public need²⁰⁰.

Yet, there has been an attempt to include the Iraqi population, for example by distributing questionnaires. However, these were never consulted by the constitutional Committee²⁰¹.

The population was not only excluded from the drafting debate, but there was no information or education given to them as to why the adoption of a federal system would be a good idea for Iraq²⁰². For example, South Africa, Albania, Eritrea and Rwanda carefully explained the importance of a new constitution for their country and the role of the population in the whole process²⁰³. This sharing of information could have been done through the use of media, the organization of debates, or village meetings.

As ought implies can, depending of the level of violence or the amount of resources a state may be more or less able of including the different segments of the population in the debate²⁰⁴. Indeed, the inclusion can be more complicated when the constitutional process occurs in a violent context, as it has in Iraq or Somalia²⁰⁵. « Every meeting of the Committee, the National Assembly, and the Leadership Council took place behind the blast walls, barbed wire, and gun turrets of Baghdad's International Zone (...) The opportunity for Iraqis to communicate, either formally or informally, with their constituent representatives was practically nil »²⁰⁶. With regards to the context, one must also note that constitutional transitions that occur under foreign occupation tend to be less legitimate, as the population might be tempted to acquiesce to provisions they do not wish only to see the foreign forces leave²⁰⁷.

Nevertheless, more effort should have been invested with regards to the importance of inclusion in ethnical divided societies. Although the lack of transparency did not prevent the acceptation of the final draft by the Iraqi population, comparative studies have shown that it often impacts the success of democracies on a long time scale in a newly formed state²⁰⁸.

²⁰⁰ USIP, p. 7.

²⁰¹ BRANDT AND AL., p. 130 and 141 – Moreover, these questionnaires were nearly only given to Shia areas of Iraq. Illiterate citizen were also excluded from the questionnaire and no special intent to reach women was made. Hence, even if they had been taken into account by the constitution drafters, they would not have been representative of the Iraqi population as a whole.

²⁰² USIP, p. 7.

²⁰³ USIP, p. 8.

²⁰⁴ BRANDT AND AL p. 342.

²⁰⁵ BRANDT AND AL., p. 171; MORROW, p. 18; USIP, p. 6.

²⁰⁶ Morrow, p. 18.

²⁰⁷ GINSBURG / ELKINS / BLOUNT, p. 208.

²⁰⁸ USIP, p. 6 – see Cambodia for instance.

1.1.2 The controversial referendum and the Sunni boycott

As underlined in the previous section, one of the most important principles while drafting a new constitution is the inclusion of all main groups of the society and of the population in the discussion²⁰⁹.

In the case of Iraq, the Sunnis boycotted the elections of the National Assembly, and were subject to an intimidation campaign by the insurgents²¹⁰. Out of the 275 members of the National Assembly, only seventeen Sunni-Arabs were elected²¹¹. The boycott was a reaction to the feeling of the Sunnis that only the Shia and Kurds were taken into account²¹². The boycott was also related to the influence the US had on the whole process (*infra*, p. 24). The Sunni felt that because the election took place under the supervision of the coalition and occupation of foreign forces, it was most likely to be « faked »²¹³.

As a result, 96.96 % of the voters from Anbar and 81.75 % of the voters from Saladdhin²¹⁴ refused the constitutional draft, meaning that most of the Sunni Arabs never recognized the 2005 constitution²¹⁵. The confrontation between the enthusiasm of the population to exercise rights they had been denied for years and the observation that once called in to vote, they mainly voted along ethnical-sectarian loyalties has been referred to as « electoral schizophrenia »²¹⁶.

However, it is important to underline that, when asked to vote, most of the population hadn't seen the final draft²¹⁷. Thus the acceptation of the referendum was not dictated by its content and could only be dictated by the identification of Iraqis to the political parties in favour or against it. In a divided society like Iraq, such identification indubitably passes through ethnical identity, the referendum ending up being a one-issue matter and having a polarizing effect²¹⁸.

Hence, as regards to the importance of including every important section of a population in the constitutional processes, it shall be noted that in the case of Iraq, the Sunnis were barely represented or included in the drafting process. All in all, one could say that the referendum had the opposite effect that it aimed at ensuring. Although a referendum can be seen as an instrument to insure inclusion and democracy, in the case of Iraq, it seems to have contributed to the maintenance of ethnical division within the society²¹⁹.

²¹⁵ MORROW, p. 3.

- ²¹⁸ BRANDT AND AL., p. 301 f.
- ²¹⁹ BRANDT AND AL., p. 302 ff.

²⁰⁹ Al-Bayan, p. 42 ; UNDP, p. 5

²¹⁰ MORROW, p. 6.

²¹¹ MORROW, p. 6.

²¹² JAWAD, pp. 9 and 13 f. ; PAPAGIANNI, p. 748.

²¹³ MORROW, p. 5 f.

²¹⁴ Anbar and Salahaddin are Sunni dominated provinces.

²¹⁶ DAWISHA, p. 879.

²¹⁷ JAWAD, p. 22.

1.2 Lack of time

The setting of deadlines is a delicate matter, as they can limit public participation if too short or on the contrary extend the process in an unnecessary way²²⁰.

Iraq's transitional National Assembly refused to extend the deadline for the constitutional process, as provided in art. 61(F) of the TAL²²¹.

It can be argued that a time extension would have been fruitless because of the lack of communication between the principle actors, or that the stages of the process were in any case not clear enough²²². Nonetheless, this paper posits that a time extension might have had the ability to fix some of the flaws of the whole process, especially the constitution's lack of legitimacy.

As a matter of facts, the refusal to extend the delay is often referred to as a mistake²²³; the process of writing a new constitution being of a fundamental importance it seems therefore logical that it shall take more than two effective months of negotiations²²⁴. The abovementioned refusal seems to have been the consequence of pressure resulting from the United States²²⁵. All in all, there seems to have been an opposition between two inconsistent objectives; the wish of the CPA to be effective on the one hand and the necessity of respecting a legitimate process, which implied empowerment of local actors and rebuilding trust²²⁶.

During the months of June and July, the position of the Arabs groups regarding the transition to federalism was already more moderate that it had been until then²²⁷. The Sunnis' initial fear was that they would be stuck between two main oil producing regions – Kurdistan in the North and « Shiastan »²²⁸ in the South –, which would affect the country's integrity. Nevertheless, they seemed to have been opening to the idea of federalism as it could imply a self-governed Sunni-Arab area²²⁹. One could therefore assume that given more time, it would have been possible to hammer out a federal solution acceptable by the three major groups. The possibility of Sunni-Arab members wilfully adopting a federal model could have eased many of the tensions that resulted from the adoption of the constitution by making them feel their own interests – and not the US interests – had also been taken into account²³⁰.

An important matter, which could also have been solved by the allowance of longer negotiations, is the education/access to information of the population. There seems to have been a

²²⁹ Morrow, p. 11 f.

 $^{^{220}}$ $\,$ Brandt and Al., p. 23 ; Ginsburg / Elkins / Blount, pp. 209 f.

²²¹ MORROW, p. 10.

²²² MORROW, p. 8 f.

²²³ MORROW, p. 1.

²²⁴ JAWAD, p. 9.

²²⁵ MORROW, p. 10.

²²⁶ ARATO, p. 18 ; BRANDT AND AL., p. 74.

²²⁷ MORROW, p. 11.

²²⁸ Morrow, p. 11.

²³⁰ MURROW, pp. 8 and 14 ; PAPAGIANNI, p. 748.

misunderstanding of the concept of federalism; an amalgam having been made between the question of Kurdish independency and federalism²³¹. The initiation of a dialogue between the Iraqi population and the negotiators could have helped people grasp the concept of federalism better as a state-organizing theory applied in many different States throughout the world and not limited to the Kurds wish to maintain a certain autonomy over their region. Indeed, trust has been said to be one of the most important matter in a society, which faced intern ethnical divisions²³². The rebuilding of trust between the various stakeholders and the construction of a national identity takes time.

1.3 Intervention of the West

As the final element to hinder the success of the federalism process in Iraq, it is important to discuss western intervention – as it is one of the factors, which characterize Iraq's transition to federalism²³³. The question whether democratic principles can be implemented through a foreign invasion is difficult to answer. The liberators of the old regime quickly turn into occupiers and their legitimacy will always be questioned²³⁴. This section will be subdivided in two parts; the consequences of the de-Baathification laws (*infra* 1.3.1) and the impact of other political interests on the whole afore-mentioned process (*infra* 1.3.2).

1.3.1 De-Baathification process

Regarding Iraq's situation after 2003, it is important to note that this whole process of drafting the new constitution would unfold under occupation of foreign forces, who proclaimed their intentions to democratize Iraq's society²³⁵. In the eyes of the Americans, this implied a strict de-Baathification policy²³⁶, which aimed at removing all officials from the government ministries and banning all members of the former Baath Party from being part of Iraq's new government as well as the dismantlement of the national army²³⁷. Hence, in addition to the transition to a federal system, the whole state structure needed to be rebuilt²³⁸.

This process has been heavily criticized²³⁹ as it led to the creation of a very high level of unemployment²⁴⁰, the loss of most of Iraq's working class²⁴¹ and the accentuation of the sectarian division of Iraq²⁴². On top of that the lack of transparency in the way the process was imple-

²³¹ Morrow, p. 12.

²³² BRANDT AND AL., p. 68.

²³³ PAPAGIANNI, p. 747.

²³⁴ Aruto, pp. 9-15.

²³⁵ Özden p. 51 ; Tripp, p. 283.

²³⁶ TRIPP, p. 282 f.

²³⁷ PFIFFNER, p. 76 ; TRIPP, p. 282.

²³⁸ Arato, p. 145 ; Munson, p. 164.

²³⁹ FERGUSON, p. 147 f. ; PFIFFNER, p. 79 ff. ; ZEREN, p. 57.

²⁴⁰ PFIFFNER, p. 79 f.

²⁴¹ PFIFFNER, p. 79 – As an example, PFIFFNER mentions that a third of the staff of the Health Ministry was forced out.

²⁴² ZEREN, pp. 57 and 66.

mented seemed in contradiction with the will of building a new State based on the principle of democracy and transparency²⁴³.

Moreover, the de-Baathification process was felt as a policy targeting mainly Sunni-Members, and ended up with their marginalization and exclusion from Iraqi society²⁴⁴. This exclusion has been said to be « an obstacle in the road for reconciliation »²⁴⁵. The Sunni members had already mentioned the incompatibility of the de-Baathification laws with a democratic system during the negotiations for the draft of a new constitution²⁴⁶.

All in all, the inclusion or exclusion of ex Baath-members underlines a controversial issue while negotiating a new constitution. How can the true followers of Saddam Hussein be distinguished from those who are not, in situations where belonging to the Party was a *sine qua non* condition to maintain ones profession and avoid being excluded²⁴⁷.

Although, the inclusion of the population may seem evident, the notion of « people » is not. The population of a State often consists of various groups, who all have their own interest at heart, and it can be difficult to determine to what extent, one wishes to include them all²⁴⁸. Especially controversial is the inclusion of violent groups in post-conflictual situations. The question of accountability or amnesty for past violations is a sensitive issue when rebuilding a State²⁴⁹. As the former group in power often had a leading position within the society, it is sometimes feared that they will be more interested in maintaining their privileged position, which could skew the constitutional process²⁵⁰. However, this argument is not necessarily decisive, as it is usual that each group will seek to ensure their own interest, especially in a divided society where trust is lacking. The aim of federalism is precisely to permit diversity to coexist. Moreover, assimilating all Sunnis to members of the Baath Party, and all members of the Baath Party to Saddam Hussein's supporters is a pitfall, which should have been avoided, as it will only reinforce the sectarian division²⁵¹.

Lastly, one must not forget that Paul Bremer's draconian policies led to the necessity of reconstituting most of the State's institution. Thus, the question of whether the implementation of a democratic State is even possible in an « inexistent » State is heavily discussed among experts²⁵². In any case, it is clear that the reconstruction of the state's institutions amounted to an additional challenge for Iraqi society. It is important to bear in mind that such policies of

- ²⁴⁸ BRANDT AND AL., p. 84.
- ²⁴⁹ BRANDT AND AL., p. 85.

²⁵¹ ZEREN, p. 66.

²⁴³ ZEREN, p. 71 ff.

²⁴⁴ ZEREN, p. 66.

²⁴⁵ ZEREN, p. 66 – Quotes Prime Minister, Nouri Al-Maliki.

²⁴⁶ JAWAD, p. 13.

²⁴⁷ PFIFFER, p. 79.

²⁵⁰ BRANDT AND AL., p. 85.

²⁵² ARATO, pp. 56 and 263 ; DAWISHA, p. 862 ; MUNSON, p. 164.

marginalization combined with a fragile State can lead to the birth of extremism movements, such as ISIS in Iraq²⁵³.

1.3.2 Political interests at stake

As we have seen (*supra*, pp. 12-13), the TAL, the CPA and the IGC were all created by the US or under their close supervision²⁵⁴. All in all, foreign occupation forces had a big influence on Iraq's constitutional process²⁵⁵. The quality of the leadership and the decision-making often has significant influence on the success or failure of transition²⁵⁶. Despite the democratic justification of the intervention, many have identified other political interests at stake for the US government²⁵⁷: « The transitional phase was dominated by the concerns of the United States, and the TAL was in part a document negotiated between the Iraqis and the United States, touching matters of special economic and political interest to the latter »²⁵⁸.

It seems that one of the objectives of the United States was to guarantee private (American) investors an access to the oil industry²⁵⁹, this in order to help the country's economical development. Many laws made by the CPA were seen as facilitating American Investment in the country, especially in the oil business²⁶⁰. Thus, the oil revenue earned by Iraq during the time the CPA seems to have disappeared²⁶¹. Besides, although the CPA had been allocated funds by the US and the international community, it used Iraq's oil revenue instead²⁶². During that time, many contracts were concluded with American investors and very few with Iraqi investors²⁶³.

Such politics were heavily criticized within the Iraqi society and many felt that the old system of rewards based on political connections and relations had been re-established²⁶⁴. Many of the Iraqis who first welcomed the US intervention felt betrayed and those who were more sceptical from the beginning were strengthened in their belief that the real aim of the intervention was to get access to the oil²⁶⁵.

Another interest at stake at the time being was the necessity for the US to gain public support for its mission in Iraq. As, the presidential elections were coming closer, the argument of having democratized Iraq would surely assure the winning of some more votes²⁶⁶. Thus the re-

²⁵³ HOWARD, p. 108; ZEREN, p. 58 – Quotes Spiegel Online, 18th of April 2015.

²⁵⁴ BRANDT AND AL., p. 39 and 75 ; JAWAD, p. 8.

²⁵⁵ PAPAGIANNI, p. 747.

²⁵⁶ BRANDT AND AL., p. 322.

²⁵⁷ JAWAD, p. 9.

²⁵⁸ BRANDT AND AL., p. 75. ²⁵⁹ TRUPP, p. 280

²⁵⁹ TRIPP, p. 289.

²⁶⁰ TRIPP, p. 289 f.

²⁶¹ TRIPP, p. 290.

²⁶² TRIPP, p. 290.

²⁶³ TRIPP, p. 290.

²⁶⁴ TRIPP, p. 291.

²⁶⁵ TRIPP, p. 289 ff.

²⁶⁶ BRANDT AND AL., p. 323.

spect for the timetable set in the TAL clearly advantaged the US government more than the Iraqi population²⁶⁷.

Thus, it seems evident that such a complex operation as the transition to a federal system can only function, if the people involved in it, are honest about their intentions. The willingness to create a federal state as a condition to a successful result is not only a prerequisite for the population²⁶⁸ but also for the « experts » monitoring and influencing the whole process²⁶⁹.

2. Issues related to the power-sharring arrangements

As already mentioned, Iraq's 2005 constitution contains the most important features of a federal State (*supra*, p. 18). One could therefore conclude that Iraq is a federal state. Nonetheless, federalism is not limited to the formal creation of a federal state but has to be implemented for it to be effective. Thus, this part will explore some of the constitution's controversial provisions, in order to assess whether the content and implementation of the constitution has had an effect on the breaking of federalism in Iraq and to what extent. For this purpose, the following section will be divided in two subsections, one reviewing the consequences of some of the constitutions most ambiguous clauses (*infra* 2.1) and another focusing on the Kurdish Independence Referendum of 2017 (*infra* 2.2).

2.1 The unclearness of the constitution and the multiple sunset-clauses

Iraq's constitution was written in a very short time period. As a result, many questions remain open in their practical implementation. This section aims to analyse three of them. The first part refers to the art. 61, which postponed the creation of the Parliament's second Chamber (*infra* 2.1.1). The second part focuses on the division of competences between the regions and the central State (*infra* 2.1.2) and the last part discuses the issue of Kirkuk (*infra* 2.1.3).

2.1.1 The upper Chamber that never was

Art. 48 to 65 of the Iraqi constitution focus on the Legislative Power. The constitution and powers of the Council of Representatives have been discussed quite broadly. It seeks to represent the whole population of Iraq at a ratio of one seat per 100'000 Iraqi persons²⁷⁰. Yet, only one article is devoted to the second Chamber, the Federation Council, which is supposed to guarantee a representation of the Regions at the federal level. There is no description of its function and its creation is left to the competence of the Council of Representatives²⁷¹. Therefore it is impossible to say if the Federation Council was meant to have a veto power or not²⁷²,

²⁶⁷ JAWAD, p. 22.

²⁶⁸ KOLLER AND AL., p. 16

²⁶⁹ GINSBURG / ELKINS / BLOUNT, p. 214.

²⁷⁰ Art. 49 Cst.

²⁷¹ Art. 61 Cst.

²⁷² Heller, p. 250.

or whether it would be symmetrical or asymmetrical²⁷³, or even incongruent²⁷⁴. The inclusion of a second Chamber seems to have been a last minute decision²⁷⁵. As for now, no law has been made and therefore the second Chamber has never been created²⁷⁶. However, Iraq's Supreme Court recently ruled that the Council of Representatives were to enact a law, which would enable the creation of a second chamber²⁷⁷.

The existence of a second Chamber is considered to be a key feature of a federal State²⁷⁸. Such a Chambers may be composed of represents of minority groups or subnational units²⁷⁹. It consists of a safety net against the tyranny of the majority, thus not only favouring the interest of the major group – Shia in Iraq –, but also ensuring other groups that their interests be taken into account²⁸⁰. The representation of every segment of a society at the federal level consists of a guarantee of the existence of a form of democracy²⁸¹ and helps prevent and resolve conflicts in a society²⁸². If a federal solution has been chosen to pacify a divided society, it seems important that the constitution respect the principle features of a federal State and that they be implemented.

Hence, in this case, the fact that a second Chamber has never been created implies a potentiality of conflict. As a member of the Kurdish Islamic Group recently pointed out: « Iraq is a federal state but the federalism of this state is not complete because it does not have a Federal Council. If this council exists, there will be a filter for laws. Often, some laws are passed in the legislature which need review and it requires a party to review them and return them to the parliament »²⁸³.

As pointed out by O'BRIEN, when a community feels that the political system is unfair, tensions and conflicts within a society are likely to arise²⁸⁴. Iraq being a parliamentary system, it is specially important for the subnational units to be represented at the parliament, as the Legislative prevails on the Executive²⁸⁵.

The creation of the upper chamber in a parliamentary system and the extent of its powers is a very important feature for a federal State. The delegation of its creation to the Council of Representatives, which is constituted of a majority of Shia²⁸⁶, does not seem to be an ideal solution if one wishes to ensure it will be implemented. The handing over of power usually doesn't

²⁷³ Lijphart, p. 193.

²⁷⁴ LIJPHART, p. 194.

²⁷⁵ GHAI / COTTREL, p. 15.

²⁷⁶ DANILOVICH, p. 54 ; MAJIDA, p. 311 ; Lasky, 18.01.18 ; Rudaw, 18.01.18.

²⁷⁷ Lasky, 18.01.18 ; Rudaw, 18.01.18.

²⁷⁸ Lijphart, p. 4 ; Pagnamenta, p. 70.

²⁷⁹ PAGNAMENTA, p. 71 f. ²⁸⁰ PIKEP p. 113

²⁸⁰ RIKER, p. 113.

²⁸¹ LIJPHART, p. 200 ff. ²⁸² O'PRIEN Newus p.

²⁸² O'BRIEN, Nexus, p. 21 ; O'BRIEN, Making p. 27.

²⁸³ Rudaw, 20.01.18.

²⁸⁴ O'BRIEN, Making p. 31.

²⁸⁵ PAGNAMENTA, p. 72.

²⁸⁶ Martin, ISW.

occur voluntarily, which is why sharing-arrangements are supposed to be set in the Constitution and not left to the goodwill of the majority-dominant group.

2.1.2 The managing of natural resources

Although federalism does not necessarily imply that a lot of powers must be allocated to regional entities, the purpose of federalism still seems to imply a certain decentralization of powers²⁸⁷. In the case of Iraq, it seems that a consensus on the extent of decentralization has never been found, despite the agreement on a federal model²⁸⁸. Some see this division of power as weakening the Iraqi State and promote a stronger central government²⁸⁹. Such an agreement has been said to punish the Sunnis and favour the Kurds and the Shia²⁹⁰. Other are in favour of a strong decentralization²⁹¹ (*supra*, p. 11).

This difficulty to agree is reflected in the Iraqi constitution. Hence the constitution division of competences between the federal unit and the subnational units, especially related to the exploitation of natural resources has always been disputed²⁹².

Art. 111 Cst stipulates that « oil and gas are owned by all the people of Iraq in all the regions and governorates ». Read in conjunction with other constitutional provisions, such as art. 110, 112, 115 and 121, one could conclude that although the central government may be in control of the natural resources in Iraq, this power shall be shared with the subnational entities²⁹³. However, when it comes to future oil and gas fields, it seems that only the central government is in charge but would still have to share the revenue with the subnational entities²⁹⁴.

Because of the vagueness of the constitutional provisions, it is important that a federal law be enacted²⁹⁵. Indeed, there is no information as to what is understood under exploitation of future oil fields or on how the revenue shall be divided. However, Iraq being a very divided society with antagonistic interests at stake, the postponing of every controversial issue to the future creation of legislation seems somewhat utopic – specially, when the creation of the Parliament itself hasn't been agreed on. Thus, no hydrocarbon law has been passed to govern the management of oil and gas²⁹⁶.

- ²⁸⁹ McGarry / O'Leary (2007), p. 681.
- ²⁹⁰ MCGARRY / O'LEARY (2007), p. 681.
- ²⁹¹ MCGARRY AND O'LEARY (2007), pp. 677 f.
- ²⁹² ALKIRI, p. 1318 ; DANILOVICH / OWTRAM, Introduction, p. 8 ; OWTRAM, p. 117.
- ²⁹³ MCGARRY / O'LEARY (2007), p. 680 f.
- 294 $\,$ Ghai / Cottrel, p. 33.
- ²⁹⁵ DANILOVICH / OWTRAM, Introduction, p. 8.
- ²⁹⁶ Alkadiri, p. 1323 ; Rudaw, 20.01.18.

²⁸⁷ Lijphart, p. 176.

²⁸⁸ Alkadiri, p. 1317.

The absence of a federal legislation on the oil and gas sector is a brake to Iraq's economical development²⁹⁷. Indeed, there has been an on-going fight between the KRG and the central government, both of them attracting foreign investment independently of each other²⁹⁸.

Negotiations are still in progress regarding the exploitation and revenue sharing of the oil between Erbil and Baghdad²⁹⁹. Thus, nearly thirteen years after the adoption of the constitution, no common agreement has been found as to its implementation. The question of the oil, because so closely linked to political power, is still unsettled and is one of the most contested federal issues³⁰⁰. The division of powers, as foreseen in the Iraqi constitution, implies a close cooperation between different segments of the population³⁰¹, which implies a more consociational approach than an integrated one³⁰².

However, proposals on the adoption of a federal law are blocked at the parliamentary level³⁰³. The existence of an upper Chamber would certainly facilitate the adoption of a federal law, as it would insure the Kurdish region to be represented. This would most certainly help the KRG to trust the central government and would reduce the rising anti-Kurds sentiment³⁰⁴. As a matter of facts, the regions have often not been paid for the oil they allowed Baghdad to export³⁰⁵. This led to some oil companies cutting their investment in the Kurdish region, the Kurdish government not being able to pay them³⁰⁶.

The ineffectiveness of the constitution could be the result of an unbalanced division of power. In this case the tensions existing as regards to the oil would be linked to a constitutional power-sharing decision - content of the constitution-, namely to allocate it to the regions and the governorates³⁰⁷.

As WIMMER pointed out in 2003, in order to avoid « an escalating fight between centre and federal entity over the distribution of resources »³⁰⁸, fiscal federalism should be adopted. This would imply the existence of a strong centre in charge of the collect and redistribution of oil revenue³⁰⁹.

Nonetheless, this paper argues that the existence of tensions between the central government and the Kurdish region is related to the vagueness of the constitution³¹⁰, and not directly to the

³⁰⁹ WIMMER, p. 124.

²⁹⁷ Iraq-business News, 20.10.18.

²⁹⁸ ALKADIRI, p. 1321 f.; OWTRAM, pp. 121 ff. and 133.

²⁹⁹ Rudaw, 20.01.18.

³⁰⁰ ALKADIRI, p. 1320 ff. ³⁰¹ GHAL/COTTREL p. 32

³⁰¹ GHAI / COTTREL, p. 32. ³⁰² MCGARRY / O'LEARY (200

³⁰² McGarry / O'Leary (2007), p. 671.

³⁰³ ALKADIRI, p. 1321.

³⁰⁴ Alkadiri, p. 1321 ff.; Anderson / Stansfield, p. 134.

³⁰⁵ OWTRAM, p. 133. ³⁰⁶ OWTRAM, p. 133.

³⁰⁶ OWTRAM, p. 133. ³⁰⁷ GUAL/COTTREL

³⁰⁷ GHAI / COTTREL, p. 5.

³⁰⁸ WIMMER, p. 123.

³¹⁰ GHAI / COTTREL, p. 30 ff. ; Konrad Stuftung, p. 2.

decision to allocate the Kurdish region a lot of autonomy on this matter. Hence, if correctly drafted, the relations between Erbil and Baghdad would be smoother. This issue has notably been identified by ALKADIRI: "The critical obstacle blocking agreement on national legislation to manage the hydrocarbon sector and revenue distribution has been not ethno-sectarian concerns but the failure to reach a broadly accepted accommodation over the role of the central government"³¹¹.

Thus, it can be sustained that the existing disputes are the consequences of a rushed draft, which aimed at ensuring a formal federalism without giving the different groups at stake the time to reach a full understanding or agreement on the content of their constitution³¹². This is apparent in the very vague constitutional provisions regarding the management of oil, the creation of the upper chamber or the future of Kirkuk, all the most sensitive issues raised during the negotiation process.

2.1.3 The future of Kirkuk

Kirkuk is a strategic point for the exploitation of natural resources³¹³, and is a disputed territory between Baghdad and Erbil³¹⁴. Already in 1970, the Kurds rejected an autonomy agreement because it didn't include the city of Kirkuk.³¹⁵ During the Baathist regime, it was subjected to a very strong Arabization policy (*supra*, p. 5). Nonetheless, it seems that the Kurdish government also moved Kurdish families to Kirkuk in order to maintain a Kurdish majority³¹⁶. This struggle to obtain a majority in an oil rich region depicts the economical nature of the tensions in Iraq and shows how ethnical-belonging can be exploited to gain economical and political power.

The TAL initially prevented Baghdad and Kirkuk of becoming regions because of the strong opposition of Shias and Sunnis and because of the province's mixed population³¹⁷. However, art. 140 Cst. allows any province, to constitute a region if the local population accepts it through a referendum, including Kirkuk. The question of the future of Kirkuk, namely whether it will join the Kurdish region or express it's will to create its own region is uncertain and causes many tension between the central government and the regions.

The federal arguments against the inclusion of Kirkuk to the Kurdish Region related to the risk of secession³¹⁸. All in all, the actual insecurity regarding the future of Kirkuk also relates to a big margin of appreciation left in the Iraqi constitution and its bad implementation. However, as the following part will assess, the Kurds didn't need to have the control over Kirkuk to attempt to claim their independence.

³¹⁷ JAWAD, p. 9.

³¹¹ Alkadiri, p. 1316.

³¹² Alkadiri, p. 1317 f. ; Majadi, p. 314.

³¹³ McGarry / O'Leary (2007), p. 682 ; Owtram, p. 125.

³¹⁴ MAJIDA, p. 319.

³¹⁵ BRANCATI, p. 19.

³¹⁶ JAWAD, p. 9.

³¹⁸ BRANCATI, p. 19 – Turkey threatened to invade the Northern part of Iraq if Kirkuk was to be given to the Kurds.

2.2 The paradox of federalism

The last section of this paper focuses on the recent Kurdish Independency Referendum. The question this part aims at answering is whether the Kurdish Referendum implies that federalism is not a successful tool to resolve the existence of conflicts and accommodate diversity in a society on a *long-term* basis (*supra*, p. 9).

One of the main fears, when designing an ethno-federation coupled with a strong decentralization of powers is that it will lead to secessionist trends. Such a consequence is understood as a paradox, the objective of the instauration of a federal system being precisely the opposite (*supra*, p. 10).

On the 25th of September 2017, the President of the Kurdish region organized a referendum on the question of independence. More than 90% of the Kurds of Northern Iraq declared their wish to secede from Iraq³¹⁹. This event seems to have made some of the experts' fears during the federal debate in Iraq come true.

Regarding the Kurdish situation, one might be tempted to say that such an issue was likely to occur due to the type of federation chosen. Although the Kurds of Iraq opted for a federal solution only because independency seemed very unrealistic³²⁰, this paper argues that the reason for the 2017 referendum wasn't directly linked to political arrangements but was more related to the implementation of the federal model.

The Kurds have been said to be privileged by the constitution of 2005 because of the very extended autonomy they acquired³²¹. Many have mentioned the risk of a Kurdish secession attempt – due to the combination of a high level of decentralization and the region's division along ethnical borders³²².

However, secession movements can only be understood in relation to the context in which they take place³²³. Saying that a strong decentralization coupled with an ethnical division of borders would always or never lead to secession trends would be too simple. Yet, one could say that the Kurdish region being the only subnational unit in Iraq, it was more exposed to secession than states divided in multiple smaller units³²⁴. Besides, Iraq's majoritarian electoral system and its Judicial Supreme Court's influence on the electoral system³²⁵ could also be seen as indications of a potential secession movement³²⁶. Economical and social factors should also be taken into account³²⁷. In the case of Iraq, the Kurdish Region's economy had been declining

³¹⁹ Filkins, 16.10.17.

 $^{^{320}}$ $\,$ Brancati, p. 11 ; Danilovich / Owtram, Introduction, p. 3.

³²¹ JAWAD, p. 9.

³²² ANDERSON, p. 159; BRANCATI, p. 19; DANILOVICH, Federalism, p. 104.

³²³ ANDERSON, p. 169.

³²⁴ ERK / ANDERSON, p. 197.

³²⁵ MAJIDA, p. 310.

³²⁶ Erk / Anderson, p. 197.

 $^{^{327}}$ $\,$ Sumer / Joseph, p. 4.

since 2014 and tensions arose with Baghdad when new oil fields were discovered in the Kurdish region³²⁸. The North of Iraq was also directly affected by the situation in Syria. The Kurdish army had been effectively fighting against ISIS troops since 2014 and more than a million persons seeking shelter arrived in the region³²⁹.

Regarding the Kurds' situation in Iraq, the federal regime originates from a « comingtogether » federalism (*supra*, p. 9). Such federations are said to be more vulnerable to secessionist trends because of the previous *de facto* autonomy the group enjoyed³³⁰. Indeed, in such constellations, the group *willingly* accepts to create a federation but imposes its conditions, as the Kurds have tried to do. The new constitution can then be understood as a « federal deal », which both parties are expected to respect. Thus, it can be sustained that the origin of a federation will impact its success or failure³³¹.

In the case of Iraq, despite many provisions of the Constitution favourable to the Kurds, many were not well implemented. The creation of the upper Chamber – meant to represent the Kurdish Region – was never established. The exploitation of the oil in the Kurdish region is still an unsettled matter and the city of Kirkuk still hasn't held its referendum. On top of that, the Council of Representative drafted a bill in 2018 on budget regulation heavily criticized by the Kurds. The Kurdish region declared the bill violates the constitution, as the Kurdish Region couldn't participate in its planning³³². Many Kurds seem to believe that the bill doesn't allocate enough resources to the regions and that it aims at punishing them for the referendum of September 2017³³³. Therefore it seems arguable to claim that it is not the power-arrangements as such, which led to the Referendum in Iraq, but the non-observance of the federal deal.

This implies that the breaking of federalism is not linked to the Kurdish attempt to secede. Federalism broke in Iraq because of the impossibility of implementing the constitution of 2005. The inapplicability of the constitution itself is the result of a rushed and instrumentalized drafting process. Thus, the Kurdish independency is the result of the failure of federalism, not its cause.

Conclusion

This paper aims to analyse the making and breaking of federalism in Iraq. It is divided in two principle parts, the first focusing on the making and the second on the breaking. The hypothesis, which crosscut the whole paper was that the making of the 2005 constitution had a major impact on the failure of federalism in Iraq.

³²⁸ SUMER / JOSEPH, p. 7 f.

³²⁹ SUMER / JOSEPH, p. 9.

³³⁰ ANDERSON, p. 164.

³³¹ BURGESS, p. 278 f.

³³² Sangar, 15.11.17 – namely art. 105, 106 and 121 Cst.

³³³ Rudaw, 22.12.17.

To this extent, various questions arose. The first principle part is divided in two subsections. The former focuses on the historical context surrounding Iraq's transition to federalism, and attempts to answer to the following questions: How has Iraq's historical background impacted the transition to federalism and what were the main challenges faced? Subsequently, why was federalism thought to be adapted to Iraq?

The main challenges identified were; the existence of a plurality of ethnic groups and different religious beliefs among the Iraqi population; the fact that Iraq had never experienced a democratic regime before, as power had always been allocated according to tribal networks and patronages. As for the close relationship between political power and the control over the oil, it clearly had the potential of skewing the rebuilding of Iraq and definitely seems to have attracted the attention of foreign forces. In addition, the existence of multiple ethnical identities combined with a brutal dictatorship resulted in a sectarian division of the population.

This is precisely why experts agreed on the fact that federalism was the best solution in order to ease tensions, help rebuild trust and avoid a future civil war. Federalism was therefore chosen for its palliative virtue. Indeed, the allocation of a certain autonomy to the diverse ethnical groups, which they could exercise within a predefined region, was seen as the best existing solution to enable the peaceful coexistence of a plurality of identities.

However, two risks were identified in relation to this new division of power, namely the fear that the allocation of too much autonomy would lead to secessionist trends instead of helping the society stick together, and the concern that minorities in the newly formed subnational units would be even more excluded.

The purpose of the following subsection was to examine the making-process of the constitution, thus answering the following questions: What were the main steps in the constitution building process and what was the result? The power-arrangement provisions chosen led us to the conclusion that the Iraqi constitution fulfilled the basic features of a federal state, identified in the former subsection.

The second principal part focused on the breaking of federalism in Iraq. For a start, it sought to identify the major flaws within the Iraqi federation.

Three main issues were identified as problematic during the drafting process, namely: the lack of legitimacy of the process – consequence of the failure to include the population and the main stakeholder – (1), the lack of time in which the drafting took place (2), and the intervention of foreign forces, which had other interests in mind than ensuring a successful implementation of a federal model in Iraq (3).

As to the constitution in itself, it was observed that despite a federal skeleton, it was never correctly implemented. Thus, some of the basic federal characteristics are still missing, such as the existence of an upper Chamber at the Parliament or a clear division of competence between the regions and the central government. An additional observation as to the breaking of federalism in Iraq relates to the recent secession attempt of the Kurdish region. Based on

those facts, one could easily conclude that federalism wasn't successful in Iraq. Hence, various interrogations followed such an observation. Should the bad implementation of the Iraqi constitution be related to the federal choices taken during the negotiation process, or is it the consequence of a poor drafting process? How should the Kurdish Referendum of 2017 be understood? Is it the cause of the breaking of federalism in Iraq or rather its consequence?

The first conclusion reached by this paper is that the flaws of the Iraqi constitution are directly related to the drafting-process. Not only was the whole process rushed, but there was no inclusion of the population and hypocritical influence of the US.

Although it could be sustained that it is the incapacity of the major stakeholders to agree, which led to the lack of clarity and ineffectiveness of the Iraqi constitution, this argument does not seem convincing. Indeed, it is based on the assumption that even if given more time, no consensus could have been reached. Such a reasoning reflects a very simplistic and fatalist vision of the Iraqi society. In addition, it seems to be in contradiction with the original purpose of a federal state, which is to allow antagonistic interests to coexist. It would therefore be paradoxical to choose a federal model, precisely because it allows diversity to cohabit while arguing that because no agreement will ever be found, little time should be allocated to negotiations. The first conclusion reached is therefore that the breaking was a direct consequence of the making process.

The second conclusion follows the first one and claims that because the failure of federalism wasn't directly linked to the federal model implemented, it cannot imply that federalism, as such, cannot resolve the existence of conflicts in the Iraqi society.

Although, federal choices clearly have a big importance as to the resolution of ethnical conflicts, this paper argues that, because federalism never was effectively implemented, it cannot be sustained that the federal arrangements are the cause of the failure of federalism in Iraq. Thus, it cannot be sustained that federalism is an unsuccessful tool for conflict resolution based on the Iraqi case because the Iraqi people never experienced the application of federalism.

Such a conclusion implies that federalism cannot be limited to the existence of a formal federal constitution. It embodies a result, and not a simple set of formal rules. All in all, one could say that federalism never really broke in Iraq, as it never seems to have existed in substance.

References

Books

- ARATO A., "Constitution making under occupation The politics of Imposed Revolution in Iraq", Columbia University Press, New York, 2009. [Arato]
- ARONI N. / KINCAID J. (eds), "Introduction: Courts in Federal Countries", in: Courts in Federal Countries – Federalists or Unitarists?, University of Toronto Press, Toronto, Buffalo and London, pp. 3-28, 2017. [Aroni / Kincaid]
- BENZ A., "The Federal Constitutional Court of Germany: Guardian of Unitarism and Federalism", in: N. Aroni and J. Kincaid (eds), Courts in Federal Countries – Federalists or Unitarists?, University of Toronto Press, Toronto, Buffalo and London, pp. 193-222, 2017. [Benz]
- BRAHIMI L., "Foreword", in: Constitution-making and Reform Option for the process, in: Brandt M., Cottrell J., Ghai Y., Regan A. (eds), Interpeace, Geneva, pp. i-iii, 2011. [Brahimi]
- BRANDT M. / COTRELL J. / GHAI Y., REGAN. (eds), Constitution-making and Reform Options for the Process, Interpeace, Geneva, 2011. [Brandt and Al.]
- BURGESS M., "Comparative Federalism Theory and Practice", Routledge, London and New York, 2006. [Burgess]
- DANILOVICH A., "Introducing Iraq's Federal System", in: Danilovich A., Owtram F. (eds), Iraqi Federalism and the Kurds, Federalism Studies, Abingdon and New York, pp. 49-64, 2014. [Danilovich]
- DANILOVICH A., "Federalism and Kurdistan Region's Diplomacy", in: Danilovich A., Owtram F. (eds), Iraqi Federalism and the Kurds, Federalism Studies, Abingdon and New York, pp. 87-112, 2014. [Danilovich, Federalism]
- DANILOVICH A. / OWTRAM F. (eds), "Introduction: Iraqi Federalism, a Large-Scale Social Experiment", in: Iraqi Federalism and the Kurds, Federalism Studies, Abingdon and New York, pp. 1-12, 2014. [Danilovich / Owtram, Introduction]
- DANILOVICH A. / OWTRAM F. (eds), "Federalism as a Tool to Manage Conflicts and Associated Risks", in: Iraqi Federalism and the Kurds, Federalism Studies, Abingdon and New York, pp. 13-47, 2014. [Danilovich / Owtram, Tool]
- DUCHACEK I., "Comparative Federalism: The territorial Dimension of Politics", Holt, Rinehart and Winston, New York, 1970. [Duchacek]
- ELAZAR D., "Exploring Federalism", Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press, 1987. [Elazar (1987)]
- ELAZAR D., "Federalism and Political Integration", Lanham, MD: University Press of America, 1984. [Elazar (1984)]

- FERGUSON C., "No End in Sight: Iraq's Descent into Chaos", Public Affairs, New York, 2008. [Ferguson]
- GHAI Y., "Autonomy as a Strategy for Diffusing Conflict", in: Stern P., Druckman D. (eds), International conflict resolution after the cold war, National Academy Press, Washington, pp. 483-530, 2000. [Ghai]
- GORENBURG D., "Minority ethnic mobilization in the Russian Federation", Cambridge University Press, Cambridge and New York, 2003. [Gorenburg]
- HOROWITZ D. L., "Ethnics Groups in Conflict", University of California Press, Berkley, 1985. [Horowitz]
- HOWARD T., "Failed States and the Origins of Violence a Comparative Analysis of State Failure as a Root Cause of Terrorism and Political Violence", Routledge, New-York and London, 2014. [Howard]
- KOLLER A., THÜRER D., DAFFLON B., EHRENZELLER B., PFISTERER T., WALDMANN B., "Principles of Federalism – Guidelines for Good Federal Practices – a Swiss contribution", Nomos, Zürich and St. Gallen, 2012. [Koller and Al.]
- LIPHJART A., "Patterns of Democracy Governments Forms and Performance in Thirty-Six Countries", Yale University Book Press, 2nd edition, London, 2012. [Liphjart]
- MCCULLOCH A., "Power-Sharing and Political Stability in Deeply Divided Societies", Routledge, London and New York, 2014. [McGulloch]
- MCGARRY J., O'LEARY B., "Introduction: the macro-political regulation of ethnic conflict", in: J. McGarry and B. O'Leary (eds), The Politics of Ethnic Conflict Regulation, Routledge, London and New York, 1993. [McGarry / O'Leary (1993)]
- MUNSON P. J., "Iraq in Transition: The Legacy of Dictatorship and the Prospects for Democracy", Potomac Books, Washington, 2009. [Munson]
- NOREE A., "Zerfall oder Demokratisierung und Föderalisierung des Irak? Föderalismus als Lösungsmodell für das Kurdenproblem im Irak?", VDM Verlag Dr. Müller, Berlin, 2008. [Noree]
- O'BRIEN M., "Making Parliament More Representative", in: O'Brien M., Stapenhurst R., Johnston N. (eds), Parliament as Peacebuilders in Conflict-Affected Countries, World Bank Institute, Washington, pp. 27-39, 2008. [O'Brien, Making]
- O'BRIEN M., "The Nexus among Parliaments, Poverty Reduction and Conflict Prevention", in: O'Brien M., Stapenhurst R., Johnston N. (eds), Parliament as Peacebuilders in Conflict-Affected Countries, World Bank Institute, Washington, pp. 11-25, 2008. [O'Brien, Nexus]
- OWTRAM F., "The Federalization of Natural Ressources", in: Danilovich A., Owtram F. (eds), Iraqi Federalism and the Kurds, Federalism Studies, Abingdon and New York, pp. 113-140, 2014. [Owtram]

- ÖZDEN L., "Der Föderalismus in Im Irak Die Nachkriegsordnung in der Kontroverse", European University Studies, Frankfurt am Main, 2009. [Özden]
- PAGNAMENTA A., "Die verkannte Kammer Rolle und Funktion von parlamentarischen Zweikammersystem über den Bundesstaat hinaus", in: Waldmann B, Hänni P., Belser E.M. (eds), Föderalismus 2.0 – Denkanstösse und Ausblicke, Institute of Federalism, Stämpfli Verlag, Bern, pp. 69-84, 2011. [Pagnamenta]
- ROMANO D., "The Iraqi Kurdish View on Federalism: Not just for the Kurds", in: Romano D., Gurses M. (eds), Conflict, Democratization and the Kurds in The Middle East – Turkey, Iran, Iraq, and Syria, Palgrave Macmillan, New York, 2014. [Romano]
- SNYDER J., "From Voting to Violence: Democratization and Nationalist Violence", W.W. Norton and Company, New York and London, 2000. [Snyder]
- TRIPP C., "A History of Iraq", Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 3rd edition, 2007. [Tripp]
- WEBER S. M., "Preface", in: Constitution-making and Reform Option for the process, in: Brandt M., Cottrell J., Ghai Y., Regan A. (eds), Interpeace, Geneva, pp. iv-vi, 2011. [Weber]
- YESILTAS O., "Iraq, Arab Nationalism, and Obstacle to Democratic Transition", in: Romano D. / Gurses M. (eds), Conflict, Democratization and the Kurds in The Middle East – Turkey, Iran, Iraq, and Syria, Palgrave Macmillan, New York, 2014. [¥esiltas]
- YILDIZ K., "The Kurds in Iraq: The Past, present and future", Plutopress, London, 2007. [Yildiz]

Articles

- AL-RACHID L., MÉTÉNIER E., "A propos de la violence irakienne Quelques éléments de réflexions sur un lieu commun", in: A contrario, vol. 5 (1), pp. 114-133, 2008. [Al-Rachid / Méténier]
- ALKADIRI R., "Oil and the question of federalism in Iraq", in: International affairs, vol. 86 (6), Oxford University Press, pp. 1315-1328, 2010. [Alkadiri]
- ANDERSON Lawrence M., "Theorizing Federalism in Iraq", in: Regional and Federal Studies, vol. 17 (2), pp. 159-171, 2007. [Anderson]
- ANDERSON Liam / STANSFIELD G., "Avoiding Ethnic Conflict in Iraq: Some Lessons from the Åland Islands", in: Ethnopolitics, vol. 9 (2), pp. 219-238, 2010. [Anderson / Stansfield]
- BERMEO N., " The import of Institutions", in: Journal of Democracy, vol. 13 (2), pp. 96-110, 2002. [Bermeo]
- BRANCATI D., "Can federalism stabilize Iraq?", in: Washington Quaterly, vol. 27 (2), pp. 5-21, 2010. [Brancati]
- BROWN, N. J., "The final Draft of the Iraqi Constitution: Analysis and Commentary", Carnegie Endowement for international peace, Washington DC, September 2005. [Brown]

- BRUBAKER R., "Nationhood and the National Question in the Soviet Union and post-soviet Eurosia: An Institutional Account, in: Theory and Society, vol. 23 (1), pp. 47-78, 1994. [Brubaker]
- DAWISHA A., "The Long and Winding Road to Iraqi Democracy", Review Essay, in: Perspectives on Politics, vol. 8 (3), pp. 877-885, 2010. [Dawisha]
- ERK J. / ANDERSON Lawrence, "The Paradox of Federalism: Does Self-Rule Accommodate or Exacerbate Ethnic Divisions?", in: Regional and Federal Studies, vol. 19 (2), pp. 191-202, 2009. [Erk / Anderson]
- GHAI Y. / COTTREL J., "A Review of the Constitution of Iraq", University of Wisconsin Law School. [Ghai/Cottrel], available at: https://law.wisc.edu/gls/arotcoi.pdf.
- GINSBURG T. / ELKINS Z. / BLOUNT J., "Does the Process of Constitution Making-Matter?", in: Annual Review of Law and Social Science, vol. 5, pp. 201-223, 2009. [Ginsburg / Elkins / Blount]
- HABISSO T., "Multiethnic (Multinational) Federalism in Plural Societies: Does it make a difference?", [Habisso]

Available at: http://aigaforum.com/articles/Multiethnic_federalism.pdf.

- HELLER W., "Divided Politics: Bicamerlism, Parties and Policy in Democratic Legislatures", in: Annual Review on Political Science, vol. 10, pp. 245-269, 2007. [Heller]
- JAWAD S., "The Iraqi Constitution: structural flaws and political implications", in: London School of Economics and Political Science – Middle East Centre Paper Series, vol. 1, pp. 1-24, 2013. [Jawad]
- KAIKOBAD H. K., "Problems of Belligerent occupation: The Scope of Powers Exercised by the Coalition Provisional Authority in Iraq", in: International and Comparative Law Quaterly, vol. 54 (1), pp. 253-264, 2005. [Kaikobad]
- KEIL S. / ANDERSON P., "Decentralization as a Tool for Conflict Resolution", Canterbury Christ Church University. [Keil / Anderson], Available at: http://www.academia.edu/31563237/Federalism_A_Tool_for_Conflict_Resolution.pdf.
- LAW J., "How Can We Definie Federalism", in: Perspectives on Federalism, vol. 5 (3), p. 88-120, 2013. [Law]
- MAJIDA S. I., "Judging Elections: The Constitutional Judiciary in Iraq's Emerging Democracy", in: Kings Law Journal, vol. 28 (2), pp. 309-323, 2017. [Majida]
- MCGARRY J. / O'LEARY B., "Iraq's Constitution of 2005: Liberal consociation as political prescription", in: Oxford University Press and New York University School of Law, vol. 5 (4), pp. 670-698, 2007. [McGarry / O'Leary (2007)]
- MORROW J., "Iraq's Constitutional Process II An opportunity lost", United States Institution of Peace, Special Report 155, Washington DC, 2005. [Morrow]

- PAPAGIANNI K., "Transitional politics in Afghanistan and Iraq: inclusion, consultation, and public participation", in: Development in Practice, vol. 15 (6), pp. 747-759, 2005. [Papagianni]
- PFIFFNER J., "US Blunders in Iraq: De-Baathification and Disbanding the Army", in: Intelligence and National Security, Routledge, vol. 25 (1), pp. 76-85, 2010. [Pfiffner]
- REILLY B., "Institutional Designs for Divers Democracies: Consociationalism, Centripetalism and Communalism Compared", in: European Political Science, vol. 11 (2), pp. 259-270, 2012. [Reilly]
- RIKER W. H., "The justification of Bicameralism", in: International Political Science Review, vol. 13 (1), pp. 101-116, 1992. [Riker]
- ROEDER P., "Soviet Federalism and Ethnic Mobilization", in: World Politics, vol. 43 (2), pp. 196-232, 1991. [Roeder]
- SAMARAWEERA V., "Amending the Constitution and Law-Making in Post-Constitution Iraq", Legal Policy Briefing Paper 4, USAID, January 2006. [Samaweera]
- SMITH A., "Fractured Federalism: Nigeria's Lessons for Today's Nation Builders in Iraq", in: The Round Table, vol. 34 (378), pp. 129-144, 2005. [Smith]
- STEPAN A., "Federalism and Democracy: Beyond the U.S. Model ", in: Journal of Democracy, vol. 10 (4), pp. 19-34, 1999. [Stepan]
- SUMER F. / JOSEPH J., "The paradox of the Iraqi Kurdish referendum on independence: contradictions and hopes for economic prosperity", in: British Journal of Middle Eastern Studies, 2018. [Sumer / Jospeh]
- TIERNEY S., "Federalism in a Unitary State: a Paradox too Far ", in : Regional and Federal Studies, vol. 19 (2), pp. 237-253, 2009 [Tierney]
- TRAUTNER, B., "Auf dem Weg zur Anerkennung Die Shiiten im Irak und ihre Rolle beim politischen Wiederaufbau", in: Blätter für deutsche und internationale Politik, vol. 6, pp. 714-723, 2003. [Trautner]
- WIMMER A., "Democracy and Ethno-religious Conflicts in Iraq", in: Survival, vol. 45 (4), pp. 111-134, 2003. [Wimmer]
- ZEREN A. K., "Iraq's struggle with de-Ba'thification process", in: Global Change, Peace and Security, vol. 29 (1), pp. 57-76, 2017. [Zeren]

Reports

Al-Bayan Center for Planning and Studies, "National Reconciliation in Iraq: A comparative study", Baghdad, 2016. [Al-Bayan]

Konrad Stiftung, "Föderalismus und Dezentralisierung im Irak: Praktiken, Instituten, und rechtliche Grundlage", 2018. [Konrad Stiftung]

United Nation Development Program, "UNDP Guidance Note on Constitution-Making Support", New-York, 2014. [UNDP]

United State Institution of Peace, "Iraq's Constitutional Process – Shaping a Vision for the Country's future", Special Report n°132, Washington DC, 2005. [USIP]

United Nations

Security Council, Resolution 1500, 14th of August 2003, S/RES/1500 (2003). [Resolution 1500] Security Council, Resolution 1511, 16th of October 2003, S/RES/1511 (2003). [Resolution 1511] Security Council, Resolution 1546, 8th of June 2004, S/RES/1546 (2003). [Resolution 1546]

Web

Rudaw, "Kurdish Oil Export must come under Iraqi Control, Abadi tells PM Barzani in Baghdad", published on the 20.01.18, consulted online on the 19.02.18. [Rudaw, 20.01.18]

Available at: http://www.rudaw.net/english/middleeast/iraq/20012018

Lasky J., "Iraq Supreme Court: Federal Council to be established", Jurist, published on the 18.01.18, consulted online on the 19.02.18. [Lasky, 18.01.18]

Available at: http://www.jurist.org/paperchase/2018/01/iraq-supreme-court-federalcouncil-to-be-established.php.

Rudaw, "Iraqi Federal Court commits parliament to pass law forming federal Council", published on the 18.01.18, consulted online on the 19.02.18. [Rudaw, 18.01.18]

Available at: http://www.rudaw.net/english/middleeast/iraq/18012018.

Rudaw, "IMF: 2018 Iraqi draft budget won't cover the needs of Kurdistan", published on the 22.12.17, consulted online on the 19.02.18. [Rudaw, 22.12.17]

Available at: http://www.rudaw.net/english/business/21122017.

Sangar A., "KRG challenges Baghdad's 2018 budget bill, calls it unconstitutional", published on the 5.11.17, consulted online on the 19.02.18. [Sangar, 15.11.17]

Available at: http://www.kurdistan24.net/en/economy/3bc42063-8b44-4524-a286-e802b2237d62.

Filkins D., "Kurdish Dreams of Independence delayed again", New Yorker, published on the 16.10.17, consulted online on the 19.02.18. [Filkins, 16.10.17]

Available at: https://www.newyorker.com/news/news-desk/kurdish-dreams-of-independence-delayed-again.

Martin P, "Iraq Council of Representatives Graphic", Institute for the study of war, published on the 9.05.16, consulted online on the 19.02.18. [Martin, ISW]

Available at: http://www.understandingwar.org/backgrounder/iraq-council-representatives-graphic-may-9-2016.

International Transparency, Iraq's index on corruption 2016, consulted online on the 19.02.18. [International Transparency, 2016]

Available at: https://www.transparency.org/country/IRQ.

Iraq-business News, "Lack of Federal Oil Law Cripples Iraq's Recovery", published on the 20.10.12, consulted online on the 19.02.18. [Iraq-business News, 20.10.12]

Available at: http://www.iraq-businessnews.com/2012/10/20/lack-of-federal-oil-law-cripples-iraqs-recovery/2/.